
(next page)→ 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting 

Thursday, March 16, 2023 – 6 pm 

General District Courtroom – Sussex Judicial Center 

15098 Courthouse Road, Sussex VA 23884 
 

ZOOM LINK 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82042031545 

Meeting ID:  820 4203 1545 
 

==================================================================== 
 

1. Commencement 

1.01 Call to Order/Determine Quorum 

1.02 The Invocation 

1.03 The Pledge of Allegiance 

1.04  Agenda Amendment(s) 

1.05 Approval of Regular Agenda 

 

2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

2.01 Approval of Minutes:  February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Board of Supervisors Meetings 

2.02 Warrants and Vouchers 

2.03 Treasurer’s Report & Financial Update – for information only  

2.04 Departmental Reports – for information only 

2.05 Victims Witness Program MOU with Commonwealth’s Attorney  

2.06 Multistate Opioid Settlements (Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS & Walgreens) 

2.07 Rural Rustic Resolution for Glyndon and Carver Lanes  

2.08 March 23, 2023 Special BOS (BWS) Meeting –Big Ticket 

2.09 March 30, 2023 Special BOS (BWS) Meeting – External Agencies 

2.10 CAS Severn Maintenance Agreement and Budget Amendment 

2.11 Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plans and Estimates 

  

3. Recognitions/Awards/Presentation  

3.01 Recognition of Retired Public Safety Coordinator G. Reid Foster 

3.02 Recognition of Retired Lieutenant James J. Shanko, III – Sheriff Giles 

3.03 VDOT Project Update – Jerry Kee  

3.04 DSS Advisory Board Update – Leah Brantley (DSS Advisory Board Chair) & Valerie 

Pierce (Interim DSS Director) 

  

4. Public Hearing  
4.01 Ordinance Amendment #2023-01:  Amendment to Sussex County Planning Commission 

Ordinance 

 a. Public Comments 

 b. Board Comments 

 c. Action on Public Hearing Item 

 

5. Appointments  
5.01 Appointment to District 19 Community Services Board 

5.02 Housing Rehabilitation Board Appointments 

 



6. Action Items 
6.01 Exxon Fuel Card Proposal –Ernest Giles (Sheriff), Oyik Mora (Exxon Mobil Fleet Fuel 

Card Program), and Sylvia Jackson (PMG Davis Travel Center) 

  

7. Citizens’ Comments  
 

8. Unfinished Business  

8.01 Public Safety Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS Change 

    

9. New Business  
9.01 Business License and Zoning Compliance Fees – Supervisor Fly 

 

10. Board Members Comments 

10.01 Blackwater District 

10.02 Courthouse District 

10.03 Henry District 

10.04 Stony Creek District 

10.05 Wakefield District 

10.06 Waverly District 

 

11. Closed Session – none    

 

 12. Recess/Adjournment  
12.01 Recess/Adjournment 

12.02 Next Meeting, Thursday, April 20, 2023 at 6 p.m. 

 

 

  



  

 

1 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

At a Rescheduled Meeting of the  

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Held in the General District Courtroom on 

Thursday, February 23, 2023 at 6 pm 

 

 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

C. Eric Fly, Sr.   

A. G. Futrell 

Debbie P. Jones 

Wayne O. Jones 

Susan M. Seward 

Rufus E. Tyler, Sr. 

Steve White, Tie Breaker 

 

STAFF PRESENT: 

Richard Douglas, County Administrator 

David Conmy, Deputy County Administrator & Director of Economic Development 

Jeff Gore, County Attorney 

Ellen G. Boone, Commissioner of the Revenue 

Deste J. Cox, Treasurer 

Eric Danuser, IT Manager (Virtual) 

G. Reid Foster, Public Safety Coordinator (Virtual) 

Ernest Giles, Sheriff 

Faith McClintock, Economic Development Consultant  

Michael Kessinger, Sergeant 

Kelly W. Moore, Finance Director (Virtual) 

Michael Poarch, Planner 

Beverly Walkup, Planning Director 

LaSonya White, Virginia Cooperative Extension 

Shilton R. Butts, Assistant to the County Administrator/ 

         Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

 

1.  Commencement  
 

1.01  Call to Order/Determine Quorum (6:17 p.m.) 

 

Chairman W. Jones called the February 23, 2023 rescheduled regular meeting of the Sussex 

County Board of Supervisors to order. 

 

1.02  The Invocation 

 

The Invocation was offered by Supervisor Seward. 

 

1.03  The Pledge of Allegiance 

 



  

 

2 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited by all. 

 

1.04  Agenda Amendments 

 

Supervisor Fly requested to move under Item 2. Consent Agenda, Item 2.10 Public Safety 

Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS Change, to Item 9. New Business, as new Item 

9.01. 

 

Supervisor Fly requested to remove Item 3.03 Molly Dowless Presentation - Anticipated 

Blackwater Solar Facility Application under Item 3. Recognition, and under Item 9. New Business, 

Item 9.01 No Solar Group Presentation, a duplicate item, from the agenda.  (The group will speak 

under Citizens' comments.)  Supervisor Fly requested Item 8. Citizens' Comments, be moved to 

Item 3.03, under the Recognitions. 

 

Supervisor Futrell requested to add under Item 11, Closed Session, as Item 11b. an additional 

personnel item. 

 

1.05  Approval of Rescheduled Regular Meeting Agenda 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR D. JONES, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves the February 23, 2023 

rescheduled regular meeting agenda inclusive of (1) removing items under Item 3. Recognition, 

Item 3.03 Molly Dowless Presentation - Anticipated Blackwater Solar Facility Application and 

under Item 9. New Business, Item 9.01 No Solar Group Presentation from the agenda; (2) moving 

Item 7. Citizens’ Comments to under Item 3. Recognitions, as Item 3.03; (3) moving under Item 

2. Consent Agenda, Item 2.10 Public Safety Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS 

Change, to Item 9. New Business, as new Item 9.01.; and (4) adding under Item 11 Closed Session, 

as an additional Item 11b, as an additional Personnel item.  All Board members present voted aye.  

 

2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR SEWARD, seconded by SUPERVISOR D. JONES and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves the Consent agenda 

inclusive of the following: (a) January 19 regular and January 26, 2023 Finance Committee 

Meeting minutes; (b) the Approval of Warrants and Vouchers; (c) the Treasurer’s Report and 

Financial Update; (d) Departmental Reports; (e) Waste Management Tax Refund (Finance 

Committee Recommendation); (f) Sheriff's Vehicle Replacement Budget Amendment; (g) 

Courthouse Fire Department Extrication Equipment Purchase (Finance Committee 

Recommendation); (h) March 2, 2023 Public Meetings for Sussex County Fire & EMS Study; (i) 

Berkley Group Emergency Management Support Services Budget Amendment; (j) CHA Landfill 

Inspection Task Order Budget Amendment; (k) Sussex Towns Economic Development Planning 

Grant Budget Amendment; and (l) Courthouse Renovation Project Budget Amendment.  All Board 

members present voted aye. 

 

3.  Recognitions/Awards/Presentation 

 



  

 

3 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

3.01 FY22 Audit of Sussex County 

 

Taylor Stover, the Audit Manager for Sussex's audit and partner out of Robinson, Farmer, Cox 

Associates' Richmond office, attended and gave a brief overview of the Financial Statements.  

 

Mr. Stover stated that three unmodified opinions were issued on the County's Financial Statements, 

internal controls, and Federal awards compliance. 

 

He stated that there was a new accounting standard related to leases.  Mr. Stover stated that it was 

called Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 87.  He stated that operating leases are 

now reported as financial statements.  They used to be recorded on all balance sheet items.  He 

noted for the County that it was a considerable increase in assets and liabilities that was mostly 

related to the landfill long term contracts.   

 

He stated on a full accrual basis, on government wide financial statements, the County ended with 

approximately $11 million in Unrestricted Net Position (Exhibit 1).   

 

He reviewed Fund Financial Statements, which is generally used for budgeting purposes.  He 

stated there was approximately $10.5 million in Unassigned Fund Balance, which is 36% of the 

General Fund expenditures.   

 

He stated that the Cash Collection was 99.3% when including delinquent collections.  He noted 

that the County still had $1.1 million in ARPA funds remaining at the end of the year.  It is not 

included in Unassigned Fund Balance.   

 

Mr. Stover stated that they didn't issue any compliance issues or material weaknesses; however, a 

Management Letter was issued.  He stated that a management letter was basically, the auditors 

discussing or presenting opportunities for improvements. 

 

Mr. Stover reviewed a few of the items included in the letter.  He noted that the first item was a 

repeat item from last year.  Departments were making purchases with credit cards when they had 

the ability to make the purchase with a purchase order and be invoiced, so the item could have 

been paid with a check.   

 

Mr. Stover stated that the second item was a repeat item as well, Special Welfare accounts.  The 

balance between Social Services and the Treasurer does not reconcile.  He stated that it wasn't a 

huge amount; however, Social Services and the Treasurer need to resolve. 

 

He stated that there was one finding for the Sussex County Public Schools for not advertising the 

Public Hearing for the proper amount of days.  They are required to give a 10-day notice of Public 

Hearing; however, only an eight day notice was given.   

 

Mr. Stover stated that about 10 years ago, the previous Administration and previous Finance 

Director changed the Chart of Accounts.  He stated that Audit of Public Accounts (APA) issued a 

manual that standardizes how the Chart of Accounts should be set up for each locality.  He stated 

that an individual changed this account approximately a decade ago.  The County has been stuck 



  

 

4 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

with this kind of account.  He noted that it adds some complications when most people--

consultants, auditors, etc.-- come in and review.  He noted that when they see a code, it may mean 

one thing to auditors and/or consultants; however, it means something completely different to staff.  

He stated that he recommended to Administration to review and agree to the Uniform Financial 

Reporting Manual. 

 

Mr. Stover thanked all the staff for working with them to get the information requested. 

 

Supervisor Tyler entered at 6:32 p.m. 

 

302 Sussex County Solar Facility Application Review and Approval Process Overview 

 

Lindsay Edwards, an Environmental Planner with the Berkley Group and a Clean Energy 

Specialist, was in attendance to give a brief overview of the Solar Generation Facilities 

Overview of Application Process and highlight important considerations for the Conditional Use 

Permit review. 

 

Ms. Edwards gave introduction background on why there are so much solar interest of recently.  

She noted that the cost of solar energy has decreased by 80% since 2010.  She stated that there is 

a growing demand for renewable generated energy from the private sector.  There are State 

policies and incentives that strive to achieve carbon emission goals and reduce the use of fossil 

fuel.  There are economic and financial opportunities for landowners, specifically farmers, as 

well as the community in general.  She stated from a geographic and climate perspective, 

Virginia is an attractive place for installation of solar energy.  In 2018, Dominion Energy and AP 

were issued 100% renewable energy by 2045 and 2050, respectively.  She stated that because of 

these factors, the County is likely to see more applications for solar facilities. 

 

Mr. Edwards stated that the Sussex Application Process is outlined by the Zoning Ordinance. It 

starts with the Pre-Application Meeting between the applicant and County staff, as well as the 

Berkley Group.  After that meeting, the applicant will submit an application which goes through 

a Completeness and Compliance Review with staff and the Berkley Group to make sure that all 

required materials outlined in the Ordinance are included.  Then, it will move on to the 2232 

Review.  The 2232 review or siting agreement are I or option.  The 2232 refers to Virginia Code 

15.2-2232 which allows a locality to review a public utility project to see if it's in accordance 

with the County's Comprehensive Plan.  This would include a staff report from Berkley Group 

and staff; (ii) Planning Commission Meeting/Decision; (iii) an applicant has an option to appeal.   

 

For the Siting Agreement, optionally, the County can decide to pursue the agreement entered 

between the applicant and the County.  Once it's negotiated and approved at a Public Hearing, 

this would satisfy the required 2232 review.   

 

For the Conditional Use Permit, a staff report will be provided by the Berkley Group and staff.  

The Planning Commission will hold a Public Hearing and give a recommendation to the Board 

of Supervisors.  The Board of Supervisors will hold a Public Hearing and make a decision on the 

project.   

 



  

 

5 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

The 2232 Review is a general or approximate location, character, and extent are substantially in 

accordance with the Comprehensive Plan or part thereof.  There are many considerations for the 

Conditional Use Permit including location/siting, design, size, and scale of facility ,  

environmental impacts; stormwater and E&S, Visual impacts, Landscaping, buffering, and 

screening, traffic impact, decommissioning and battery storage. 

 

An example of site plan was displayed to show a 4,000 acres facility, the typical aspects covered 

by improvements which included panels access roads, sedimentation basins, vegetative buffer 

around the whole facility and setbacks from property lines.  Ms. Edwards noted that it was 

important to know where the facility was located in relations to floodplains, wetlands and 

groundwater.  Wildlife corridors needed to extend through site and not just be present along the 

fence line.  She noted that building footprints, access points, as well as potential substations are 

identified on the plans.   

 

Displays were shown of buffers and vegetative buffer at the planting in comparison to after 10 

years.   

 

Traffic and Construction Impacts reviewed included haul routes; number of vehicle trips per day.  

Size and number of vehicles needed for construction was reviewed, as well as impact to roadway 

conditions, construction hours and noise and light impacts, etc.  

 

3.03  Anticipated Blackwater Solar Facility Application 

 

This item was removed from the agenda during the agenda amendments. 

 

The Board recessed at approximately 7:20 p.m. to allow citizens/crowd to leave. 

 

Mr. Steve White (Tie Breaker) entered at 7:21 p.m. 

 

The Board meeting reconvened at approximately 7:25 p.m. 

 

3.04  Sussex Service Authority Fiscal Evaluation 

 

Roland Kooch (Davenport) and Stevie Steele (CHA) were in attendance to  provide Sussex Service 

Authority fiscal evaluation. 

 

Mr. Kooch stated that they delivered a report providing a fiscal evaluation as a fudiciary to the 

Sussex Service Authority (the "Authority") based on the information they had at the time.    He 

noted that a lot of things are subject to change.  There are assumptions in the report that could 

change, both on the revenue and expense side, as well as the Capital side in terms of sources and 

uses of funding.   

 

He stated that what they were charged to deliver a preliminary assessment based on the current 

budget year.  They were charged with developing a preliminary series of scenarios to look at of 

what it would potentially take to maintain and be a self-supporting Authority going forward.  He 

noted that the Authority is currently undertaking a review of the report.  There will be some back 



  

 

6 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

and forth communication/changes.   

 

They are working on developing a baseline understanding and comprehensive evaluation in 

system assets in what it may take to invest in the Authority and what it may take to maintain the 

Authority going forward that will provide to the Authority and its user base and what the order of 

magnitude (?) would potentially be in terms of long term sustaining.   

 

He noted that the Authority is working with CHA.  He stated that there were options that may or 

may not involve assistance from the County. 

 

Mr. Steele from CHA stated that the last time that he spoke with the County, he provided a road 

map of how CHA was going to address some things with both towns, some opportunities with 

grants, and a road map to get out of the current Consent Order.  They have worked with DEQ 

and SSA Attorney to prepare a revised, draft Consent Order.  A Study is due by October 31, 

2023.  Recommendations will become part of the Consent Order.     

 

He stated that at the time he had spoken, there were ARPA funds available.  He was instructed to 

submit an ARPA Grant application for 100% grant money for the both the Bank Street projects 

currently being operated by a generator and onsite pump and also for the Wakefield and Waverly 

Wastewater Collection Systems which are driving the Consent Order.  ARPA Grant Application 

for $3,950,000 was submitted on December 15, 2022. 

 

Mr. Steele stated that since that time they got an offer from the original application to DEQ clean 

water revolving loan fund.  At the time, he doesn't know if there is any grant associated.  Since 

the loan was awarded, the ARPA funds became available.  The announcement of ARPA funding 

will be made in March.  SSA can select best funding option at that time. 

 

Study is being funded by County ($25K), Authority ($25K), and SERCAP Grant ($50K).   

 

Manhole inspection, mapping update, and metering plan have been completed.  Metering efforts 

will begin in March and last until the end of May. CCTV and smoke testing will be implemented 

based on metering data with full report ready for submission to DEQ by October 31, 2023.   

 

Manhole Inspection Data is available.  He reviewed a Flow Meter Plan.   

 

Vice Chairman Seward gave a brief followed up.  Per the By Laws, Vice Chairman Seward is the 

Board's representative on the Sussex Service Authority Board.  She stated that what the Board 

needs to keep in mind is that, ultimately, there are pretty large infrastructure improvements to the 

entire Sussex Service Authority system that the Authority may or may not be able to afford.  From 

the Board's point of view, County planning wise, knowing that bonds need to be issued to do 

improvements here on the Courthouse complex, in which Davenport has done a schedule.  The 

County needs to stay in communication and pay attention as the improvements are made.  She 

stated that we do need to get out from under the Consent Order--which has a price tag.  It was 

noted that the Department of Corrections is the major user of the system and major funder of the 

system.  There’s another system that DOC doesn’t affect.  Funding future maintenance needs have 

to be considered for years down the road.  The County could possibly have a role.  There are other 



  

 

7 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

options such as absorption by regional authority; privatization, option of County involvement, etc.  

However, we need to find what our needs are.  What can we do with freights going forward with 

both DOC and the private user of the system?  And, after reviewing all of the scenarios, figuring 

out the anticipated needs and monetary amount needed.   

 

3.05 Sussex County Chamber of Commerce 

 

Phyllis Tolliver was present and gave an update of the happenings and events of the Sussex 

County Chamber of Commerce.   

 

Dr. Tolliver stated that all of the events will occur this year, 2023.  On March 23, 2023, the 

Chamber will have a Recognition Dinner at the Airfield 4-H Conference Center in Wakefield, 

Virginia.  Chamber members and businesses that have been in business for over 50 years will be 

recognized.  The dinner will be open to the public.  The reception will begin at 5 p.m.  The dinner 

will begin at 6 p.m.  The cost of the meal is $30 per person.  There will be a cash bar throughout 

the evening.  Tickets can be purchased on the Sussex Chamber of Commerce website at 

Sussexvachamber.com.  The deadline for tickets will be March 13, 2023. 

 

The next event will be held on April 29, 2023. The Chamber will be supporting Waverly on their 

5K Walk/Run event.  The James House will receive the proceeds.  Many chamber members are 

sponsoring this event.   

 

On May 5th, Waverly will be having the Cinco de Mayo celebration again this year.  Details are 

still in process.  Information will shared at a later time.   

 

Tentatively, the Chamber is partnering with the Town of Wakefield on June 17, 2023 for an End 

of Spring Celebration.  More information will be shared at a later time about this event.   

 

The Chamber will be awarding scholarships in the amount of $500 to high school deserving 

students who attend Sussex Central High School, Appomattox Regional Governor’s School, and 

Tidewater Academy. 

 

Dr. Tolliver stated that the Chamber of Commerce’s membership continues to grow.  Currently, 

there are 68 active members and is anticipating having 75 members by the end of March.   

 

Dr. Tolliver extended an invitation to any businesses that aren’t a member of the Chamber yet, to 

join.   

 

The Chamber has started a newsletter which can be found on their website.   

 

4.  Public Hearings 
 

There was no Public Hearing. 

 

5.  Appointments  
 



  

 

8 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

County Administrator Douglas noted that there is a vacancy on the District 19 Community 

Services Board.  A new appointment will need to be made.  Per D19 CSB, this appointment does 

not have to be the Director of Social Services.  The new appointment will be a three year term, 

starting immediately, expiring February 28, 2026 should the appointment be made at the February 

meeting.  (The three year term will be determined by the month of the appointment per D19 CSB.) 

 

The Board member position description, By Laws and Meeting Schedule were included in the 

Board packet. 

 

This item was tabled. 

 

6.  Action Items 

 

6.01 VEDP Business Ready Grant Overview & Related Budget Amendments 

 

David Conmy stated that Sussex County was awarded $247,900 and $61,050 from the Virginia 

Economic Development Partnership (VEDP) and the Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission 

(TRRC), respectively, for various master planning and conceptual engineering design activities to 

advance the shovel-readiness of the Sussex Mega Site. A local match of $61,050 is required; 

however, staff recommends the Board appropriate an additional $35,000 for two activities VEDP 

inadvertently omitted from the approved program. This projects is intended to be managed through 

the County’s existing relationship with Virginia’s Gateway Region, Spectrum Growth Solutions, 

and the County’s on-call engineering firms. Because these are reimbursable grants, two budget 

amendments are needed to appropriate (1) $405,000 for the full cost of the project and (2) $15,000 

for continuation of Spectrum Growth Solutions’ services to the County for 2023. 

 

Mr. Conmy gave an overview and the activities and budget 

 

There was discussion of whether Data Centers be useful in the Mega Site. 

 

Staff recommends the Board adopts the proposed budget amendments. 

 

Budget Amendment Resolutions, VEDP VBRSP Award Letter, TRRC Award Letter, and Project 

Budget were included in the Board packet. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR TYLER, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby adopts Resolutions #23-14 

FY23 Budget Amendment for the VEDP VBRSP Sussex Mega Site; and 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Sussex County Board of Supervisors that the following budget 

amendment for the Mega Site (Fund#305) be and hereby is made for the period of July 1, 2022 

through June 30, 2023.  This resolution will approve and appropriate funds for the VEDP 

VBRSP Sussex Mega Site Development Grant FY23.  

 

FUND # 100 GENERAL FUND 

 



  

 

9 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

REVENUE 

 Fund 305 VEDP      $247,900 

 Fund 305 TRRC      $61,050 

Fund 135 Local Reserves      $96,050 

 Total Revenues      $405,000 

 

EXPENDITURE 

 Fund 305 Mega Site      $405,000 

 Total Expenditures      $405,000 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Sussex County Board of Supervisors that the following 

Resolution #23-15 budget amendment for the General Government Administration function be 

and hereby is made for the period of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023.  This resolution will 

appropriate local reserve funds to contract with Spectrum Growth Solutions. 

 

FUND # 100 GENERAL FUND 

 

REVENUE 

 Fund 135 Local Reserves     $15,000 

 Total Revenues      $15,000 

 

EXPENDITURE 

 Fund 100 Administration     $15,000 

 Total Expenditures      $15,000 

 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Futrell, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  none 

 

6.02 Fire Engine Acquisition (Stony Creek and Wakefield VFDs) – Financing Resolution  

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that a revised resolution is attached for your consideration 

that provides Board approval of additional lease purchase financing under the existing master lease 

agreement with Bank of America.  Specifically, the resolution would begin the process of securing 

up to $1,850,000 in financing for two fire engines serving the Wakefield and Stony Creek 

Volunteer Fire Departments, as identified in the County’s Public Safety Capital Plan.  This is the 

same process followed for the recent acquisition of fire engines for Jarratt, Courthouse, and 

Waverly Volunteer Fire Departments, and an ambulance for the Stony Creek Volunteer Rescue 

Squad.   

 

The Finance Committee recommended moving forward with this process at its last meeting.  

Roland Kooch with Davenport will be present to answer any questions regarding this process. 

 

Staff recommends the Board adopts the attached resolution. 

 

Resolution approving additional lease purchase financing under existing Master Lease Agreement 

and memo from the Public Safety Coordinator were included in the Board packet. 
 



  

 

10 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

ON MOTION OF D. JONES, seconded by SUPERVISOR TYLER and carried:  RESOLVED 

that the Sussex County of Supervisors hereby adopts Resolution #23-16 approving additional 

lease purchase financing under existing Master Lease Agreement. 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Futrell, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  none 
 

6.03 Recommended Sussex County EMS Operations Plan  

 

County Administrator Douglas advised the Board that Thomas Hicks will be serving as the Interim 

Public Safety Coordinator.  He stated that Rick McClure, with Old Dominion Emergency Medical 

Services Alliance (ODEMSA) Council to answer any questions.  The County Administrator stated 

that they would be providing recommendations on potential EMS operations to help move the 

County forward.   

 

Thomas Hicks stated that Sussex County sits within the ODEMSA Region.  Mr. Hicks stated that 

when you look at the phones, it falls within this region.  He noted that he was presenting a snapshot 

of where things stand today. 

 

He stated that while there is a consistency of call response across the County, there’s a significant 

amount of calls that falls up and down the 460 corridor.  More calls were noted to go to the two 

jail facilities more than one time.  He stated that this represented 2,500 ??? in 2022 which is a 

significant amount of calls for a rural area.  Mr. Hicks stated that based on the data of the amount 

of calls, the County’s normal coverage a day is two and one half ambulances operating 24 hours a 

day and at least one of those ambulance operating a portion of that 24 hours a day based on what 

your call volume for that time of the day 

 

He stated that success is driven by people, process and solution. 

 

He discussed the value of volunteers.  He stated in 2021, the current rate for a volunteer is $29.95 

per hour.  For a volunteer to be successful, you have invest in the volunteer program by training, 

education, and mentorship. 

 

Option 1 

• Stony Creek and Waverly rescue squads continue to operate as independent agencies 

staffing units based on operational volunteers. 

• Based on the current volunteer workforce this will not meet the service demand of the 

county. 

• Paid resources will need to be provided using local dollars. 

• No standard of coverage. 

• Lack of accountability with service delivery. 

• Lack of financial accountability. 

• Costly. 

 

Option 2 

 



  

 

11 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

• Stony Creek and Waverly rescue squads continue to operate as independent agencies staffing 

units based on operational volunteers. 

• The county employs a contract to establish a 3rd party EMS service across the county as the 

primary service delivery for EMS. The contract will need to define the standard of service and 

coverage. 

• The county will have to augment the funds collected by cost recovery by the 3rd party agency 

with local dollars.  

• Costly . 

 

Option 3  

 

• Stony Creek and Waverly rescue squads continue to operate as independent agencies staffing 

units based on operational volunteers. 

• Sussex County creates an Emergency Services Department by County Code. 

• The County files for an EMS License and seeks out an Operational Medical Director. 

• Staffing and equipment is secured to support community demand. 

• 90-120 day effort. 

• Provides a foundation for the future needs of the county and response. 

• Creates full accountability.  

• Leverage revenue from cost recovery to create some net savings. 

 

The governing body of any county, city, or town may establish an emergency medical services 

agency as a department of government and may designate it by any name consistent with the names 

of its other governmental units.  

 

An emergency medical services agency established pursuant to this section may be dissolved when 

the local governing body of the county, city, or town in which the emergency medical services 

agency is located determines that the emergency medical services agency has failed, for three 

months successively, to have or keep in good and serviceable condition emergency medical 

services vehicles and equipment and other proper implements, or when the governing body of the 

county, city, or town for any reason deems it advisable.  

 

Upon dissolution of an emergency medical services agency established pursuant to this section, 

any property that was in the possession of such emergency medical services agency and that was 

purchased using public funds shall be offered to a city or county served by the emergency medical 

services agency to be used for the public good. 

 

Mr. Hicks provided a presentation of the EMS System to be forwarded to them. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby authorizes the County 

Administrator to move forward with getting licenses. 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  Supervisor Futrell 

 

6.04 Donation of Waverly Fire Department Engine 120 



  

 

12 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

 

Supervisor Fly stated that Andy Mayes suggested donating the Waverly Fire Department Engine 

120 to Dickinson County. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby authorizes the donation of the 

Waverly Fire Department Engine 120 to Dickinson County.  All Board members present voted 

aye. 

 

7.  Citizens’ Comments 

 

Citizens' Comments were held under Item 3. Recognitions, as Item 3.03. 

 

It was announced that it was agreed upon that 13 minutes would be allowed for the Solar Group 

due to the size of the group.  Other speakers will have two (2) minutes. 

 

 Molly Dawless (Courthouse District) - Representative for No Sussex Solar Group; group 

against Opposition of the anticipated Solar facility in Blackwater District; family farm deeded 

for 276 years by King George (current owner); discussed anticipated footprint/site size; made 

clear that bad fit for location; facility borders; discussed impacts to surrounding land; rental 

pools/ponds; trees; turned down offer to sell property 

 Gretchen Lanier (Courthouse) - No negative feeling; Understand General Assembly effects to 

Zoning Ordinance; opposition to solar facility; thanked the Board for what they do for County.   

 Bob Richardson (Waverly District) - Sussex Service Authority meeting & accounting; new 

leadership at Sussex Service Authority; high rates. 

 Buddy Faison (Southampton) - Opposition of solar facility. 

 Marcie Drewry (Courthouse District) - 4-H Center; Horse Program; County commitment; 

cover arena for Equestrian Center. 

 Woody Griffin (Courthouse District) - Solar panels; something that attracts businesses & 

companies. 

 

Vice Chairman Seward shared that the Board did not create the demand for solar.  It is driven by 

the General Assembly.  It was noted that Republicans and Democrats put in language in the budget 

that it is a by-right land use.  There is no more local zoning authority.  

 

8.  Unfinished Business  
 

There was no Unfinished Business. 

  

9.  New Business 

 

The Presentation of Solar Facilities by No Solar Group was removed from the agenda during 

agenda amendments. 

 



  

 

13 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

Consent Agenda Item 2.10 Public Safety Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS Change 

was moved from under Item 2. Consent Agenda during agenda amendments to Item 9. New 

Business, as the new Item 9.01. 

 

9.01 Public Safety Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS Change 

 

This item was tabled until October. 

 

10.  Board Member Comments 
 

10.01  Blackwater District – none 

 

10.02 Courthouse District – none 

 

10.03 Henry District – Community meeting; County Administrator update on DSS Director; 

thanked County Administrator and staff for cleaning site on 301 Highway. 

 

10.04 Stony Creek District – none 

 

10.05 Wakefield District – Second meeting as Chairman; professionalism at meetings. 

 

10.06  Waverly District – Thanked County Administrator, David Conmy and staff on new 

building in Waverly. 

 

11. Closed Session 

 

11.01 Convene to Closed Session 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR SEWARD, seconded by SUPERVISOR TYLER and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby enters Closed Session for 

discussion of (1) the acquisition or disposition of real property for public purposes, pursuant to 

applicable Code Section 2.2-2711(A)3; (2) personnel matters discussion, pursuant to Code Section 

2.2-3711(A)1, as it relates to County Administrator’s contract; and (3) Consultation with legal 

counsel, or briefing by staff or consultants about actual litigation, pursuant to applicable Code 

Section 2.2-3711(A)7, RM7 Properties, LLC 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Futrell, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  none 

Absent during vote:  Supervisor Fly 

 

11.02/3 Reconvene to Open Session/Certification 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR SEWARD, seconded by SUPERVISOR TYLER and carried:  

RESOLVED that Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby returns to Open Session; and 

 



  

 

14 | Page – Minutes of February 23, 2023 Rescheduled Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Sussex County, Virginia convened a Closed Meeting on 

this date pursuant to an affirmative recorded vote in accordance with the provisions of the Virginia 

Freedom of Information Act; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, requires a certification by the 

Board that such Closed Meeting was conducted inconformity with Virginia law.  

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby 

certifies that, to the best of each member’s knowledge (i) only public business matters lawfully 

exempted from open meeting requirements by Virginia law were discussed in the closed meeting 

to which this certification resolution applies, and (ii) only such public business matters as were 

identified in the motion convening the Closed Meeting were heard, discussed or considered by the 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors. 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Futrell, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  none 

 

11.04 Board Action on Closed Session Item 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR TYLER, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby extends the County 

Administrator’s contract to 12 month paid severance or lump sum. 

Voting aye:  Supervisor Fly, D. Jones, W. Jones, Seward, Tyler 

Voting nay:  Supervisor Futrell 

 

12.  Adjournment 

 

12.01 Adjournment 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR D. JONES, seconded by SUPERVISOR TYLER and carried:  

RESOLVED that the February 23, 2023 rescheduled regular meeting of the Sussex County Board 

of Supervisors hereby adjourned at 10:10 p.m.  All Board members present voted aye. 

 

12.02 Next Meeting 

 

The next regular Board of Supervisors meeting is scheduled to be held, Thursday, April 20, 2023 

at 6 p.m. 

 



TOTAL ALL WARRANTS FOR APPROVAL $685,290.79

TOTAL ALL VOID CHECKS FOR APPROVAL $0.00

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE WARRANTS: CHECK NO. AMOUNTS PROCESS DATE

FOR MONTH OF February 2023 224285-224341 172,793.01$              RUN DATE 2/2/2023
224342 2,166.32$                  RUN DATE 2/7/2023
224343-224389 128,430.88$              RUN DATE 2/8/2023
224401-224440 42,928.56$                RUN DATE 2/16/2023
224441 2,588.95$                  RUN DATE 2/16/2023
224453-224493 219,326.64$              RUN DATE 2/23/2023

Total Regular Warrants $568,234.36

PAY. DEDUCTION WARRANTS: 224390-224400 51,140.09$                RUN DATE 2/16/2023
224442-224452 49,835.70$                RUN DATE 2/28/2023

Total Deduction Warrants: $100,975.79

TOTAL VOUCHERS & WARRANTS FOR APPROVAL $685,290.79

ACH PAYMENTS 
Flores & Associates 16,080.64$                RUN DATE 2/3/2023

March 16, 2023

             WARRANTS & VOUCHERS SUMMARY



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
CHECKS 

 









































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PAYROLL 
DEDUCTION 

CHECKS 







 

ACH PAYMENTS 
 

 

 

 





2.03

Consent Agenda - Page 1

sricks
Highlight



Consent Agenda - Page 2



Consent Agenda - Page 3



Consent Agenda - Page 4



Consent Agenda - Page 5



BUILDING 

INSPECTIONS  

DEPARTMENT 

   March 16, 2023 

Monthly Reports 

 

2.04 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consent Agenda - Page 6



Building department                                                                                    County of Sussex, Virginia   

MATT WESTHEIMER , mcp, cbo                                                                                                                    P. O. Box 1397 Sussex, Virginia 23884 

building official                                                                                                                                                      Fax (434) 246-8259 

(434) 246-4390  

 

 

Sussexcountyva.gov 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

DATE:  March 1, 2023 

 

TO:  Richard Douglas, County Administrator  

     

FROM: Matt Westheimer, Building Official        

 

SUBJECT: February 2023 - Monthly Report 

 

 

Please accept this as the February 2023 update for the Building Department.   

  

BUILDING ACTIVITY  

 

 February 2023 
 

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

6 9 2 5 40 $439,692.00 $3,738.66 

 

 February 2022 
 

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

11 14 5 7 66 $1,216,470.00 $4,697.40 

 

 January 2023 – December 2023 (Yearly totals) 

 

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

19 23 8 16 90 $1,765,503.27 $14,756.87 

 

Inspections completed within 24 hours For February 100% 

Plans reviewed within 10 business days For February 100% 

 

 

Consent Agenda - Page 7



SUSSEX COUNTY

INSPECTIONS PERFORMED BY DISTRICT

FEBRUARY 2023

DISTRICT INSPECTIONS

BLACKWATER 3

COURTHOUSE 3

WAVERLY 16

STONY CREEK 9

WAKEFIELD 7

HENRY 7

BLACKWATER
7% COURTHOUSE

7%

WAVERLY
36%

STONY CREEK
20%

WAKEFIELD
15%

HENRY
15%

INSPECTIONS BY DISTRICT

Consent Agenda - Page 8



Planning Department 

March 16, 2023 

Monthly Reports

Consent Agenda - Page 9



Planning & Zoning Department 

Monthly Report for January and February 2023 
Michael Poarch, County Planner 

Community Development/Special Programs/Grant Administration  

Current Developments 

 Site Work for Waverly Solar LLC Phase I (Substation)- Approved and under construction 

 Site Work for Pit Crew LLC- Under construction 

 Waverly RNG Project- Pipeline & Access Road- Initial site work has began 

 Site Plan Review for Waverly Solar LLC Phase II, and Phase III - Pending review and approval 

 ESC Plan Review for Stony Creek Shell Diesel Islands- Pending review and approval 

 Subdivision/ ESC Plan Review for Evergreen Acres “Section 2”- Pending review and approval 

Pocahontas Neighborhood Improvement Project 

 Five (5) housing projects have been completed under the Pocahontas project, including three (3) substantial 

reconstructions and two (2) rehabilitations. 

 One (1) housing rehabilitation project has been negotiated, however, the applicant would like to pursue a 

substantial reconstruction instead. 

Final extension for Pocahontas Neighborhood Improvement Project Phase I was granted. The deadline is August 

31, 2023 to meet DHCD expectations for Phase I in order to proceed onto Phase II. 

Planning & Zoning 

 No Planning Commission meeting was held in the month of January or February. 

 Seven (7) Zoning Applications were reviewed and approved for January: two (2) for Zoning Compliance 
(Business License), one (1) for pole barn/garage, one (1) for single-wide manufactured home and (3) for a home 
occupation. 

 Eighteen (18) Zoning Applications were reviewed and approved for February: Five (5) for a single family 
dwelling, seven (7) for a Home Occupation, one (1) for a sign, and five (5) for the RNG pipeline. 

 Four (4) new address assignments were issued for new residential construction on Beaver Dam Road, Railroad 
Bed Road, and Shands Road for February. 

Erosion & Sediment Control 

 Required Monthly Land Disturbance Reports to DEQ are up-to-date. 

 One (1) Land Disturbance Application was approved for Waverly Align RNG Project- Pipeline. 

 Five (5) E&S projects are active with inspections being made within a two-week period or after each significant 

rainfall event. Periodic inspections are also being done for Agreement in Lieu of an Erosion and Sediment 

Control Plan for single family dwellings. 

Consent Agenda - Page 10



Sheriff’s Department

March 16, 2023 

Monthly Reports 

Consent Agenda - Page 11



P. O.   

Sheriff E.L. Giles, Sr. 

Sussex County Sheriff’s Office 

“One Family, One Mission, One Goal” 

P.O. B 

P. O.  Box 1326 Sussex, Virginia 23884 
Telephone: 434-246-5000 

Fax: 434-246-5714 
Email: Egiles@susova.us 

Sussex County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 
Month of February 2023 

PATROL 

COURTS 

Court: Judges: 
Circuit Court 3 
General District 4 
JDR Court 3 

CALLS FOR SERVICE 
Type: Total: 
Sheriff 1302 
Fire 74 
Rescue 220 
Animal Control 102 
Town of Wakefield 35 
Traffic 655 
TOTAL 2388 

Court: 
Days of 
Court: 

Circuit Court 6 
General District 11 
JDR Court 6 

Consent Agenda - Page 12



CIVIL 

Fines and Forfeitures $58,589.06 
Sheriff’s Fees $361.00 
Courthouse Security $7,345.15 

JAIL 

During the month of February 2023, our average daily population was 29.11 inmates. The jail 
booked in 50 individuals during FEBRUARY.  

The classification of these inmates as reported by the Commonwealth of Virginia’s LIDS 
computer system is as follows: 

Pre- Trial   32 inmates, having been confined a total of 523 days 
Sentenced Misdemeanant  6 inmates, having been confined a total of 27 days 
Sentenced Felons   6 inmates, having been confined a total of 167 days. 
Others   4 inmates, convicted but not sentenced, etc. 
Weekenders  0 inmates serving a misdemeanor sentence. 

Transports of inmates for various reasons are listed below: 

Court / Jail 18 
Medical 0 
Juvenile 2 
Road Crew 0 
TDO (Mental) 0 
TOTAL 20 

Type: Total: 
Subpoenas Served 288 
Jury Summoned 76 
Criminal Warrants 57 
DMV Notices 0 
Levies 0 
TDO 0 
ECO 0 
Other Civil 129 

Consent Agenda - Page 13



Sussex County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 
Month of January 2023 

PATROL 

COURTS 

Court: Judges: 

Circuit Court 3 

General District 4 

JDR Court 2 

CIVIL 

“ONE FAMILY, ONE MISSION,  

 ONE GOAL”  

Sheriff E. L. Giles, Sr.  
Sussex County Sheriff’s Office 

P. O. Box 1326 

Sussex, Virginia 23884 

        Telephone 434-246-5000 

        Fax             434-246-5714 

        www.sussexsheriffva.com 

    Email egiles@susova.us 

CALLS FOR SERVICE 

Type: Total: 

Sheriff 1366 

Fire 44 

Rescue 232 

Animal Control 68 

Town of Wakefield 21 

Traffic 640 

TOTAL 2371 

Court: 
Days of 
Court: 

Circuit Court 8 

General District 11 

JDR Court 4 

Type: Total: 

Subpoenas Served 228 

Jury Summoned 0 

Criminal Warrants 48 

DMV Notices 0 

Levies 0 

TDO 0 

ECO 0 

Other Civil 111 

Consent Agenda - Page 14

http://www.sussexsheriffva.com/
mailto:egiles@susova.us


Fines and Forfeitures $73,102.11 

Sheriff’s Fees $75.00 

Courthouse Security $8,908.01 

JAIL 

During the month of January 2023, our average daily population was 28.26 inmates. The jail booked in 25 
individuals during January 2023.  

The classification of these inmates as reported by the Commonwealth of Virginia’s LIDS computer system is as 
follows: 

Pre- Trial   37 inmates, having been confined a total of 551 days 

Sentenced Misdemeanant  5 inmates, having been confined a total of 36 days 

Sentenced Felons   9 inmates, having been confined a total of 187 days. 

Others   6 inmates, convicted but not sentenced, etc. 

Weekenders  0 inmates serving a misdemeanor sentence. 

Transports of inmates for various reasons are listed below: 

Court / Jail 16 

Medical 2 

Juvenile 4 

Road Crew 0 

TDO (Mental) 2 

TOTAL 24 

Consent Agenda - Page 15



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.05 

Subject: Victim Witness Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)  

Board Meeting Date:   March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   The Commonwealth’s Attorney Office has worked with the Virginia Department of 
Criminal Justice Services (DCJS) to develop a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the 
administration of Sussex County’s Victim/Witness Assistance Program.  While county 
administration is the designated grant recipient for this state grant-funded program, the Board 
of Supervisors has delegated administration to the Commonwealth’s Attorney. This MOU 
addresses procurement/financial and other operational areas and was recommended by DCJS in 
a recent program audit. The County Attorney reviewed and made some minor edits to the 
document. 

A copy of this MOU signed by the Commonwealth’s Attorney and Victim/Witness Coordinator is 
included for approval and authorization of the County Administrator to execute.  

Recommendation:   Staff recommends request for approval and authorization of the County 
Administrator to execute MOU between Sussex County and the Commonwealth’s Attorney Office 
for the administration of the Victim/Witness Assistance Program, to address 
procurement/financial and other operational areas. 

Attachment: MOU document 
============================================================================== 

REQUESTED ACTION:  That the Board approves and authorizes the County Administrator to 
execute MOU between Sussex County and the Commonwealth’s Attorney Office for 
administration of the county Victim/Witness Assistance Program. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Consent Agenda - Page 16



Consent Agenda - Page 17



Consent Agenda - Page 18



Consent Agenda - Page 19



Consent Agenda - Page 20



Consent Agenda - Page 21



Consent Agenda - Page 22



Consent Agenda - Page 23



Consent Agenda - Page 24



Consent Agenda - Page 25



Consent Agenda - Page 26



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.06 

Subject: Multistate Opioid Settlements (Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS & Walgreens)  

Board Meeting Date:   March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Administration was informed that the multistate opioid settlements have recently 
been reached with opioid manufacturers Teva and Allergan, and retail pharmacy chains Walmart, 

CVS, and Walgreens. Included for your consideration is a draft resolution for the Board’s approval 
of Sussex County’s participation in the settlements and authorization of a responsible official 
(County Administrator) to complete, sign, and submit the participation forms. The deadline for 
submission is April 18, 2023. 

Recommendation:   That Board approves the attached resolution for participation in this 
multistate opioid settlement and authorizes the County Administrator to complete, sign and 
submit the participation forms. 

Attachment: Resolution of Approval of Settlements with Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS and 
Walgreen  

============================================================================== 

REQUESTED ACTION:  That Board approves the attached resolution of approval for participation 
in the multistate opioid settlements and authorizes the County Administrator to complete, sign 
and submit the participation forms. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Consent Agenda - Page 27



RESOLUTION #23-23C 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SUSSEX BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVING OF THE 

COUNTY’S PARTICIPATION IN THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT OF OPIOID-RELATED 

CLAIMS AGAINST TEVA, ALLERGAN, WALMART, WALGREENS, CVS, AND THEIR 

RELATED CORPORATE ENTITIES, AND DIRECTING THE COUNTY ATTORNEY AND 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO 

EFFECTUATE THE COUNTY’S PARTICIPATION IN THE SETTLEMENTS 

WHEREAS, the opioid epidemic that has cost thousands of human lives across the country 

also impacts the Commonwealth of Virginia and its counties and cities, including the County of 

Sussex, by adversely impacting the delivery of emergency medical, law enforcement, criminal 

justice, mental health and substance abuse services, and other services by Sussex’s various 

departments and agencies; and 

WHEREAS, the Commonwealth of Virginia and its counties and cities, including Sussex, 

have been required and will continue to be required to allocate substantial taxpayer dollars, 

resources, staff energy and time to address the damage the opioid epidemic has caused and 

continues to cause the citizens of the Commonwealth and Sussex County; and 

WHEREAS, settlement proposals have been negotiated that will cause Teva, Allergan, 

Walmart, Walgreens, and CVS to pay billions of dollars nationwide to resolve opioid-related 

claims against them; and 

WHEREAS, the County has approved and adopted the Virginia Opioid Abatement Fund 

and Settlement Allocation Memorandum of Understanding (the “Virginia MOU”), and affirms that 

these pending settlements with Teva, Allergan, Walmart, CVS, and Walgreens shall be considered 

“Settlements” that are subject to the Virginia MOU, and shall be administered and allocated in the 

same manner as the opioid settlements entered into previously with opioid distributors McKesson, 

Cardinal Health, and AmerisourceBergen, and opioid manufacturer Janssen Pharmaceuticals; and 

WHEREAS, the County Attorney has reviewed the available information about the 

proposed settlements and has recommended that the County participate in the settlements in order 

to recover its share of the funds that the settlement would provide;  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Sussex Board of Supervisors, this 

______ day of ________ 2023, approves of the County’s participation in the proposed settlement 

of opioid-related claims against Teva, Allergan, Walmart, Walgreens, CVS, and their related 

corporate entities, and directs the County Attorney and the County Administrator to execute the 

documents necessary to effectuate the County’s participation in the settlements, including the 

required release of claims against settling entities. 

ADOPTED this _________ day of ___________, 2023. 

Consent Agenda - Page 28



21175141 

   ATTEST APPROVED 

Shilton R. Butts, Clerk Wayne Jones, Chairman 

Consent Agenda - Page 29



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.07 

Subject: Rural Rustic Resolution for Glyndon and Carver Lanes 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Attached for your consideration is a resolution designating Glyndon Lane and Carver 
Lanes in Wakefield as Rural Rustic Roads.  At the December regular meeting the Board of 
Supervisors certified necessary right-of-way and transferred these roads to VDOT, and paving is 
scheduled to begin Spring 2023.  Adoption of this resolution is the final step necessary in the pre-
paving process, and designation as a Rural Rustic Road (similar to most rural roads in the county) 
will allow paving within existing limited right-of-way, ditch lines, etc. 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of the Rural Rustic Road designation for Glyndon 
and Carver Lanes 

Attachment:  Resolution 

============================================================================= 

ACTION:  That the Board approves the Resolution for the Rural Rustic Road designation for 
Glyndon and Carver Lanes 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Consent Agenda - Page 30



The Board of Supervisors of Sussex County, Virginia, in regular session on the 16th day of March, 2023, 

adopted the following: 

RESOLUTION #23-23D 

WHEREAS, Section 33.2-332 of the Code of Virginia, permits the hard surfacing of certain unpaved roads 

deemed to qualify for designation as a Rural Rustic Road; and 

WHEREAS, any such road must be located in a low-density development area and have no more than 

1,500 vehicles per day; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Sussex County, Virginia (“Board”) desires to consider whether 

the following roadways: 

STATE ROUTE NAME  FROM TO 

742 Glyndon Lane 705 743 

743 Carver Lane 742 Dear End 

should be designated as a Rural Rustic Road; and 

WHEREAS, the Board is unaware of pending development that will significantly affect the existing traffic 

on these roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board believes that these roads should be so designated due to their qualifying 

characteristics; and 

WHEREAS, these roads are in the Board’s six-year plan for improvements to the secondary system of 

state highways. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board hereby designates these roads as Rural Rustic 

Roads, and requests that the Resident Engineer for the Virginia Department of Transportation concur in 

this designation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board requests that these roads be hard surfaced and, to the fullest 

extent prudent, be improved within the existing right-of-way and ditch-lines to preserve as much as possible 

the adjacent trees, vegetation, side slopes, and rural rustic character along the road in their current state. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a certified copy of this resolution be forwarded to the Virginia 

Department of Transportation Resident Engineer. 

Recorded Vote  A Copy Teste: 

Moved By: ______________________________ 

Seconded By: ____________________________ Signed: ________________________________ 

Yeas: _____________  Printed Name: ___________________________ 

Nays: _____________  Title: __________________________________ 

Consent Agenda - Page 31



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.08 

Subject: March 23, 2023 BOS Budget Work Session for Big Ticket Items 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Due to a lack of quorum, the Thursday, March 2, 2023 Budget Work Session for Big 
Ticket items was cancelled.  The Budget Work Session has been rescheduled to Thursday, March 
23, 2023, for Big Ticket Items, to be followed by a general discussion of revenues and 
expenditures as originally scheduled.   

The location of the meeting will be in the Social Services Conference room located at 20103 
Princeton Road at 6:00 p.m. 

Please advise if there are any changes. 

Recommendation:    

Attachment:  Notice of Special (BWS) Meeting for March 23, 2023 

============================================================================= 

ACTION:  That the Board approves March 23, 2023 BOS BWS for Big Ticket Items 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Consent Agenda - Page 32



 NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

SUSSEX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

Pursuant to the Code of Sussex County, at Section 2-100, there will be a Special Meeting (Budget 

Work Session) of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors. The time and place of this Special 

Meeting is hereinafter stated, to-wit: 

Date/Time of Meeting:        Thursday, March 23, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

Place of Meeting: Newsome Human Services Building 

Social Services Conference Room 

20103 Princeton Road 

  Sussex, Virginia 23884 

Matter(s) to be considered: 

Budget Work Session to discuss Department Heads FY24 “big ticket” requests for personnel, 

programmatic changes and/or Capital Improvements. 

By:     Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Consent Agenda - Page 33



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.09 

Subject: March 30, 2023 BOS Budget Work Session for External Agencies 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Just a friendly reminder, a Budget Work Session has been scheduled for Thursday, 
March 30, 2023 for External Agencies.   

The location of the meeting will be in the Social Services Conference room located at 20103 
Princeton Road, Sussex, Virginia at 6:00 p.m. 

Please advise if there are any changes. 

Recommendation:    

Attachment:  Notice of Special (BWS) Meeting for March 30, 2023  

============================================================================= 

ACTION:  That the Board approves March 30, 2023 BOS BWS for External Agencies 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Consent Agenda - Page 34



 NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

SUSSEX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

Pursuant to the Code of Sussex County, at Section 2-100, there will be a Special Meeting (Budget 

Work Session) of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors. The time and place of this Special 

Meeting is hereinafter stated, to-wit: 

Date/Time of Meeting:        Thursday, March 30, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

Place of Meeting: Newsome Human Services Building 

Social Services Conference Room 

20103 Princeton Road 

  Sussex, Virginia 23884 

Matter(s) to be considered: 

Budget Work Session to discuss request for external agencies. 

By:     Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Consent Agenda - Page 35



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.10 

Subject: CAS Severn Maintenance Agreement & Budget Amendment 

Board Meeting Date:   March 16 2023 
============================================================================== 

Summary:  Ms. Deste Cox, Treasurer, is requesting the Board approve the IBM Power8 Hardware 
and Software Maintenance and Support agreement, and appropriate $4,653.48 from Reserves 
for the associated cost.  This is a one- year agreement commencing March 19, 2023. 

The IBM Power8 is the processing machine that houses the County’s accounting software. 

Ms. Cox will present a request for the FYE24 budget to upgrade to the IBM Power10 system, as 
IBM will no longer support the Power8 after March of 2024.  CAS Severn has agreed to credit the 
balance of this Maintenance agreement to the purchase of the Power10, should the County 
purchase prior to March 2024. 

Recommendation:   That Board approves the IBM Power8 Hardware and Software Maintenance 
and Support Agreement, as well as Resolution #23-23J Budget Amendment to appropriate funds 
to the Treasurer’s office for Maintenance Contract, in the amount of $4,653.48 from Reserves 
for the associated cost for the one year agreement.  

Attachments:  CAS Severn Power8 Maintenance Agreement, Ms. Cox’s letter, dated March 7, 
2023 IBM Power8 Hardware and Software Maintenance/Support; and Resolution #23-23J. 
============================================================================== 

REQUESTED ACTION:  That Board approves the IBM Power8 Hardware and Software 
Maintenance and Support Agreement, as well as Resolution #23-23J Budget Amendment to 
appropriate funds to the Treasurer’s office for Maintenance Contract, in the amount of $4,653.48 
from Reserves for the associated cost for the one year agreement. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Consent Agenda - Page 36



Consent Agenda - Page 37



Consent Agenda - Page 38



Consent Agenda - Page 39



SUSSEX COUNTY 
DESTE JARRATT COX  TREASURERS OFFICE          Phone (434) 246-1087 

   TREASURER  P O BOX 1399    

15074 COURTHOUSE ROAD           SUSSEX, VA  23884  Fax (804) 246-2347 

To:  Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

From: Deste J. Cox, Treasurer 

Date:  March 7, 2023 

RE: IBM Power8 Hardware and Software Maintenance/Support 

I am requesting that the Board approve the attached IBM Power8 Hardware and Software Maintenance 

and Support agreement, and appropriate $4,653.48 from Reserves for the associated cost.  This is a one- year 

agreement commencing 3/19/23. 

The IBM Power8 is the processing machine that houses the County’s accounting software.  I will 

present a request for the FYE24 budget to upgrade to the IBM Power10 system, as IBM will no longer support 

the Power8 after March of 2024.  CAS Severn has agreed to credit the balance of this Maintenance agreement to 

the purchase of the Power10, should the County purchase prior to March 2024. 

Consent Agenda - Page 40



RESOLUTION #23-23H 

FY23 BUDGT AMENDMENT 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Sussex County Board of Supervisors that the following budget 

amendment for the Treasurer’s Office be and hereby is made for the period of July 1, 2022 

through June 30, 2023.  This resolution will amend the budget to appropriate funds to the 

Treasurer’s Office for Maintenance Service Contract. 

FUND # 100 

GENERAL FUND 

REVENUE 

Fund 135 Local Reserves $4,653.48 

Total   $4,653.48 

EXPENDITURE 

Fund 100 Treasurer’s Office $4,653.48 

Total   $4,653.48 

Adopted March 16, 2023 

 _____________________________________ 

Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 

      Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

ATTEST: 

______________________  

Shilton R. Butts, Clerk 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Consent Agenda - Page 41



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Consent Agenda Item #2.11 

Subject: Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plans and Estimates  

Board Meeting Date:   March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:    As a condition of the approved CUP #2019-01, approval of the decommissioning 
plan is required by the Director of Planning (formerly the Department Community 
Development), the County Administrator and the Board of Supervisors. The decommissioning 
plan/estimate was prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates engineering firm.  Review of the 
plan/estimate was conducted by the County’s solar consultant, The Berkley Group, LLC, and 
were found to be adequate, include standard practice, and in compliance with condition #17. 

Recommendation:   Staff recommends approval. 

AttachmentS: Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate- Phase I 
Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate- Phase II 
Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate- Phase III

============================================================================== 

Action:  That the Board approves the Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plans and Estimates 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Consent Agenda - Page 42



County of Sussex, Virginia Waverly Solar Decommission Plan & Estimates 

1 | P a g e

STAFF REPORT 

Review of Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan/Estimate 

Board of Supervisors Meeting Date: March 16, 2023 

DESCRIPTION: 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) #2019-01 for Waverly Solar, LLC was approved by the Board of 

Supervisors on March 21, 2019 to construct and operate a 118 megawatt solar energy facility in 

Sussex County.  The CUP was subsequently amended on October 17, 2019 to add 650 acres to 

the project area and again on September 13, 2022 to rectify the removal of the pre-existing tree 

buffer. 

As a condition of the approved CUP, approval of the decommissioning plan is required by the 

Director of Planning (formerly the Department Community Development), the County 

Administrator and the Board of Supervisors.  Specifically condition #17 reads as follows: 

17. The Applicant is required to obtain approval of a decommissioning plan from the Director

of Community Development Department, the County Administrator, and the Board of

Supervisors (not subject to a public hearing) prior to approval of any building permits for

the solar facility.  The solar energy facility shall be decommissioned and removed within

eighteen (18) months after the facility ceases electricity generation for a continuous twelve

(12) month period.

The costs of decommissioning shall be secured by adequate surety in a form agreed to by 

the County Attorney, including but not limited to a surety or performance bond, certified 

check, or letter of credit, such surety shall be provided to the Director of Community 

Development, with copies delivered to the County Administrator, and the Board of 

Supervisors prior to the issuance of the land disturbance permit and building permit from 

the County. The performance bond, certified check or letter of credit shall be in an amount 

of no less than Five Hundred Ninety Thousand Dollars ($590,000) while the solar energy 

facility remains on the Property. If the solar energy facility is sold, the CUP shall not 

transfer to the purchaser until such time as the adequate surety is provided. 

The cost estimates of the decommissioning shall be updated every five (5) years by an 

independent consultant ("consultant") retained at the expense of the Applicant, or any 

Consent Agenda - Page 43



County of Sussex, Virginia Waverly Solar Decommission Plan & Estimates 

2 | P a g e

future owner, and provided to the County. The consultant shall be a professional engineer 

licensed in Virginia with expertise in the subject of decommissioning solar projects. The 

Applicant, or future owner, is required to obtain approval of the independent consultant 

from the Director of Community Development, the County Administrator, and the Board 

of Supervisors (not subject to a public hearing) prior to being engaged by the Applicant, 

or future owner, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. The consultant's 

reports will identify the cost of decommissioning, taking into account any salvage value 

of the installed equipment. The surety amount will be increased or decreased based on 

such updated cost of decommissioning, but the surety shall not be below the minimum 

amount required by this condition. The surety amount shall be increased by an amount 

equal to 10% above the updated cost of decommissioning to cover the adjusted 

decommissioning cost over the five year review period. The Applicant, or future owner, 

shall be liable to the County for any deficiency if the bond amount does not fully fund the 

costs of decommissioning. 

Decommissioning shall include, but not be limited to, the removal of all fencing, posts, 

foundations, racking systems, solar panels, underground cables and conduits, combiner 

boxes, switch gears, transformers, other electrical components, and other accessory 

equipment/structures from the Property no matter the depth placed in the ground and 

properly disposed of as part of the decommissioning. 

If the Applicant, or future owner, intends to cease operations, or to shut down the solar 

energy facility, it shall send the Director of the Community Development Department, the 

County Administrator, and the Board of Supervisors written notice at least ninety (90) days 

prior to such action and will provide, with such notice, a revised consultant's report. The 

Applicant, or future owner, shall remove the facilities ("decommissioning") within twelve 

(12) months of receipt of notice from the County, said notice shall not be issued prior to

the expiration of the (90) day notice period referenced in the previous sentence. If the solar 

energy facility is not removed within the time provided in the notice to the County, the 

County may cause the removal of the solar energy facility with costs being borne by the 

Applicant, or future owner. The County shall have the necessary rights to sell the facilities 

Consent Agenda - Page 44



County of Sussex, Virginia Waverly Solar Decommission Plan & Estimates 

3 | P a g e

(the result of which shall be the salvage value) and to the extent that the salvage value is 

insufficient to reimburse the County for costs incurred to remove the facilities after 

collection of the proceeds of the bond, certified check, or letter of credit referenced above, 

the Applicant or future owner shall be liable to the County for amount equal to the 

difference between the salvage value plus the proceeds of the bond, certified check, or 

letter of credit and the amount of costs the County incurs to remove the facilities. 

STAFF REVIEW: 

The decommissioning plan/estimate was prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates engineering 

firm.  Review of the plan/estimate was conducted by the County’s solar consultant, The Berkley 

Group, LLC, and were found to be adequate, include standard practice, and in compliance with 

condition #17, based upon the following: 

 The plan indicates the anticipated life of the project or the basis for determining the

anticipated life of the project.

 The plan references surety method and provides cost estimates.

 The plan includes all required elements of a decommissioning plan.

Waverly Solar- 

Phases 

Subtotal Salvage 

Estimate 

Total Demolition/Restoration Estimate Plus 10% 

Contingency 

Phase I $2,015.00 $165,180.88 

Phase II $5,383,597.50 $9,666,560.38 

Phase III $4,032,407.43 $8,162,262.78 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION: 

Staff recommends approval.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate-  Phase I

 Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate-  Phase II

Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan & Estimate- Phase III

Consent Agenda - Page 45



Waverly Solar Phase I

Decommissioning Plan 

February 13, 2023 

Prepared for: 

Sussex County, Virginia 

Prepared for: 

Energix Waverly Solar, LLC 
2311 Wilson Blvd 
Suite 640 
Arlington, VA 22201 

Prepared by: 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc 
2035 Maywill Street 
Suite 200 
Richmond, VA 23230 

Consent Agenda - Page 46



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 2 February 13, 2023 

Table of Contents

1.0   Decommissioning Plan ............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.1 General ............................................................................................................................ 1-1 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation ................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities ..................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3.1 Timeline.............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components........................................................... 1-1 

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site ........................................................................... 1-2 

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring .............................................................................................. 1-3 

Consent Agenda - Page 47



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 3 February 13, 2023 

1.0 Decommissioning Plan 

This decommissioning plan is provided by Energix Waverly Solar, LLC (the “Project Company”) and will 
detail the projected decommissioning demands associated with the proposed project. This plan only 
covers the items within Phase I of the project that will be owned by Energix Waverly Solar, LLC. 

1.1 General 

The purpose of this decommissioning plan is to provide procedures and an opinion of probable 

construction cost for partial or full closure of the solar facility. Sussex County Code requires a 

decommissioning plan and performance guarantees to supplement plans submitted as part of a 

Conditional Use Permit package. The owner will provide the performance guarantee in the form of a 

bond. This decommissioning plan details provisions for facility deconstruction and site restoration. This 

decommissioning plan shall take effect upon facility abandonment, discontinuation of operation for more 

than 12 consecutive months, or expiration of the use permit as defined by Sussex County Code. 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation 

At the end of commercial operations, the Project Company will be responsible for removal of all above 

and below ground equipment, all roads and the equipment pad foundations owned by the Project 

Company. The owner anticipates the useful life of the project to be forty (40) years. The owner will 

provide a notice to the zoning administrator by certified mail, or in person, of the proposed date of 

discontinued operations and plans for removal. Prior to initiating the process, a traffic study will be 

provided to the County and VDOT detailing the associated impacts of the decommissioning process. 

The owner will restore and reclaim the site to pre-construction condition and topsoil quality to the extent 

practical, including the access roads. The Project Company reserves the right to extend the Project 

instead of decommissioning at the end commercial operations with Landowner permission and upon 

obtaining all necessary State and local permits. If the Project Company seeks to extend the life of the 

Project, they will decide whether to continue operation with existing equipment or to retrofit solar panels 

and power systems with upgrades based on new technologies. 

Decommissioning includes removing the switchyard, underground cables and lines, equipment pads 

and foundations, equipment cabinets, and ancillary equipment. The civil facilities owned by the 

Project Company, gravel entrance, security fence, and any drainage structures are included in the 

scope. Standard decommissioning practices would be utilized, including dismantling and repurposing, 

salvaging/recycling, or disposing of the solar energy improvements. 

Within twelve (12) months of all equipment being removed, any holes or voids created by poles, concrete 

pads and other equipment will be filled in with soil to the surrounding grade and seeded with a previously 

approved seed mix. Any grading or seeding will be initiated within six (6) months of all equipment being 

removed. All areas compacted by equipment will be de-compacted to a depth of 18 inches from finished 

grade prior to fine grading and seeding. This may include re-vegetation as meadows, returning the site to 

a use consistent with this decommissioning plan, or re-development of the land for other beneficial uses 

within the approved zoning ordinance, based on consultation with the Landowner. 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities 

1.3.1 Timeline 

Decommissioning is estimated to take no more than 18 months to complete, and the 

decommissioning crew will ensure that all equipment and materials are recycled or disposed of 

properly. Provided, however, the Project Company shall be able to request an extension of an 

additional six (6) months if it is in good faith diligently decommissioning and is delayed due to 

weather conditions or other items outside of its control. If the facility is not removed within the 

specified time herein, the County may cause removal of the facility, with costs being borne by the 

Project Company, the Landowner, or both. 
Consent Agenda - Page 48



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 4 February 13, 2023 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components 

The removal and disposal details of the Energix Waverly Solar, LLC owned site components are found 
below. 

Switchyard: All electrical equipment will be disconnected and disassembled. All parts will be removed 

from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the 

Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Underground Cables and Lines: Underground cables and conduits contain no materials known to be 

harmful to the environment. As part of the decommissioning of the project, all cable will be excavated and 

removed from the site. Topsoil will be segregated and stockpiled for later use prior to any excavation and 

the subsurface soils will be staged next to the excavation. The subgrade will be compacted to a density 

of approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. Topsoil will be redistributed across the disturbed area.  

Equipment Pads and Ancillary Foundations: Topsoil will be removed from an area surrounding the 

foundation and stockpiled for later use/replacement, as applicable. Foundations will be excavated to a 

depth sufficient to remove all conduits, cables, aggregate, and concrete to a depth of 36 inches below 

grade. The remaining excavation will be filled with clean subgrade materials of quality comparable to the 

immediate surrounding area. All unexcavated areas compacted by equipment used in decommissioning 

will be de-compacted in a manner to adequately restore the topsoil and sub-grade material to a density of 

approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. All materials will be removed from the site and 

reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project 

Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Fence: All fence parts and foundations will be removed from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold 

as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent 

with applicable regulations and industry standards. The surrounding areas will be restored to pre-

construction conditions to extent feasible. 

Gravel Entrance: The gravel entrance will be used for decommissioning purposes, after which 

removal of roads will be discussed with the Landowner, using the following process: 

1) After final clean-up, roads may be left intact through mutual agreement of the Landowner and the

Project Company unless otherwise restricted by Federal, State, or Local Regulations. If the Landowner

desires for the roads to be left intact, they must submit this request, in writing, to the County and it the

request must be approved by the County Board of Supervisors.

2) If a road is to be removed, aggregate will be removed and shipped from the site to be reused, sold, or

disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable

regulations and industry standards. Geotextile fabric will be removed and disposed of appropriately off

site. Ditch crossings connecting access roads to public roads will be removed unless the Landowner

requests they remain. The subgrade will be de-compacted to a depth of approximately 18 inches using a

chisel plow. Topsoil that was stockpiled during the original construction will be distributed across the

open area. The access roads and adjacent areas that are compacted by equipment will be de-

compacted.

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site 

The current land usage on the site is silviculture. The Project Company assumes that most of the site 

will be returned to meadow, which could be used in the future for silviculture, after decommissioning 

and will implement appropriate measures to facilitate such uses. The Landowner may request a 

condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning 

ordinance. If no specific use is identified, the Project Company will vegetate the site with a grassland 

seed mix. The goal of restoration will be to restore natural hydrology and plant communities to the 

greatest extent practicable while minimizing new disturbance and removal of native vegetation. The 

decommissioning best management practices (BMP’s) to minimize erosion and to contain sediment 

Consent Agenda - Page 49



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 5 February 13, 2023 

that will be employed on the Project to the extent practicable with the intent of meeting this goal 

include: 

1. Minimize new disturbance and removal of native vegetation to the greatest extent practicable. The
vegetative buffer shall remain in place after decommissioning unless the Landowner requests for it to be
removed. If it is removed, the area will be restored to pre-construction condition unless the Landowner
requests a condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning
ordinance.

2. Removal of all above and below ground solar equipment and access roads up to three feet below

surrounding grade, backfill with subgrade material and cover with suitable topsoil to allow adequate

root penetration for plants, and so that subsurface structures do not substantially disrupt ground water

movements.

3. Any topsoil that is removed from the surface for decommissioning will be stockpiled to be reused

when restoring plant communities. Once decommissioning activity is complete, topsoil will be re-spread

to assist in establishing and maintaining plant communities.

4. Stabilize soils and re-vegetate with regional plants appropriate for the soil conditions and adjacent

habitat and use local seed sources where feasible, consistent with Landowner objectives. Reseeding

with native plants will not be performed for site that will be returned to agricultural use or other more

intensive beneficial uses.

5. During and after decommissioning activities, install erosion and sediment control measures in all

disturbance areas where potential for erosion and sediment transport exists, consistent with storm

water management objectives and requirements.

6. Remediate any petroleum product leaks and chemical releases related to the project prior to

completion of decommissioning.

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring 

Decommissioning of the site will comply with permits for NPDES/SDS CSW Permit, Spill Containment 

and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan, and SWPPP, if grading activities are necessary and exceed 

applicable permit thresholds. Any hazardous material from the property shall be disposed of in 

accordance with federal and state law. Decommissioning should include post-restoration monitoring 

as required by the NPDES/SDS CSW Permit and SWPPP and other applicable requirements. In 

addition, the Project Company’s Field Representative assigned to decommissioning monitoring will 

stay in contact with the Landowner, including onsite check-ins until the NPDES/ SDS CSW permit is 

closed. The costs related to this monitoring are included as a portion of the supervision/overhead line 

item of the cost estimate below.

Consent Agenda - Page 50



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 6 February 13, 2023 

Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 
Supervision/Overhead 
Mobilization/Demobilization 

1 
1 

Lump Sum 
Lump Sum  

$13,580.00 
$9,000.00  

$13,580.00 
$9,000.00 

Permitting 
State Permits 1 Lump Sum $10,000.00  $10,000.00 
Subtotal Permitting 
Decommissioning will require a SWPPP and SPCC plan, cost is an estimate of the permit preparation cost   
Civil Infrastructure 
Removal Gravel Surfacing from Road 95 Cubic Yards (BV) $4.22 $400.90 
Haul Gravel Removed from Road 95 Cubic Yards (LV) $11.00 $1,045.00 
Disposal of Gravel Removal from Road 0.5 Tons $11.52 $5.76 

Removal and Haul Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 555 Square Yards $0.31 $172.05 
Disposal of Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 555 Square Yards $0.16 $88.80 
Grade Road Corridor (Re-spread Topsoil) 125 Linear Feet $3.81 $476.25 
Erosion and Sediment Control for Road Restoration 125 Linear Feet $2.16 $270.00 

Turf Establishment on Removed Road Area 1 Acres $2,420.41 $2,420.41 
Removal of Security Fence 660 Linear Feet $6.91 $4,560.60 
Haul of Security Fence 3.3 Tons $13.25 $43.73 
Subtotal Civil Infrastructure $9,483.49 
Civil removal costs are a combination of VDOT unit costs where applicable, RS Means cost for Petersburg, VA, and industry standards. 

Electrical Collection/Transmission System 
Removal of Switchyard 1 Lump Sum $100,917.02 $100,917.02 

Removal of AC Cable 800 LF $3.50 $2,800.00 
Haul of PV Underground wire 1 Ton $13.25 $13.25 
Subtotal Electrical Collection/Transmission System $103,730.27 

Site Restoration 
Stabilized Construction Entrance 1 Each $2,200.00  $2,200.00 
Perimeter Controls 450 Linear Feet $2.16 $972.00 
Permanent Seeding on area within Removed Array 1 Acres $1,062.08 $1,062.08 

Subtotal Site Restoration $4,370.67 
Site restoration costs are based on past solar project experience. 

Subtotal Demolition/Removals $150,164.43 

10% Addition for 5 Year Update $15,016.44 
Total Net Decommissioning in Year 5 plus Contingency $165,180.88 

Salvage 
Fencing 2.5 Tons $290.00 $725.00 

PV Underground Wire 1,000 LBS $1.29 $1,290.00 

Subtotal Salvage $2,015.00 

Total Demolition Minus Salvage 
$163,165.88 

Notes: 

1. Prices used in analysis are estimated based on research of current average costs and salvage values.
2. Prices provided are estimates and may fluctuate over the life of the project.
3. Contractor means and methods may vary and price will be affected by these.

Consent Agenda - Page 51



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 7 February 13, 2023 

Waverly Solar Project Decommissioning Assumptions 

To develop a cost estimate for the decommissioning of the Waverly Solar Project, Kimley-Horn made 

the following assumptions and used the following pricing references: Costs were estimated based on 

current pricing, technology, and regulatory requirements. The assumptions are listed in order from top 

to bottom of the estimate spreadsheet. When publicly available bid prices or Virginia Department of 

Transportation (VDOT) bid summaries were not available for particular work items, we developed time 

and material-based estimates considering composition of work crews and equipment and material 

required using RS Means data.  

1. This Cost Estimate is based off decommissioning occurring in Year 5 since the estimate is
required to be updated every 5 years.

2. This Cost Estimate is based on the site plans created by Kimley-Horn and Associates and

dated November 8, 2021.

3. A project of this size and complexity requires a full-time project manager or support staff.

4. Common labor will be used for most of the tasks except for heavy equipment operation. Labor,
material, and equipment rates are based on the RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg,
VA.

5. Mobilization was estimated at approximately 7% of total cost of other items.

6. Permit applications will require the preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Protection

Plan (SWPPP) and a Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan.

7. Road gravel removal was estimated on a time and material basis using a 6-inch thickness. Since

the material will not remain on site, a hauling cost is added to the removal cost. The recycling

costs for road aggregate are volatile varying from approximately $10 per ton for disposal to

$10 per ton for recycling.

8. Grade Road Corridor reflects the cost of mobilizing and operating light equipment to spread

and smooth the topsoil stockpiled on site to replace the aggregate removed from the road.

9. Erosion and sediment control along road reflects the cost of silt fence on the downhill side

of the road.

10. Topsoil is required to be stockpiled on site during construction, therefore this topsoil is

available on site to replace the road aggregate, once removed. Subsoiling cost to de-

compact roadway areas is estimated as $350 per acre (based on state DOT bid prices), and

Turf Establishment, which includes seed, fertilizer, mulch, and care until grass is established

is $2,420.41 per acre (based on RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg, VA).

11. Fence removal includes loading, hauling, and recycling or disposal. Fence and posts

weigh approximately 10 pounds per foot.

13. A metal recycling facility (Atlantic Iron and Metal) is in Petersburg, VA, approximately 26.5 miles

from the project site. Pricing was acquired from www.scrapmonster.com. We estimate the hauling

costs at approximately $0.50 per ton mile. The pricing is adjusted to 75 percent of the published

price to reflect the processing required for the posts to fit recycling requirements and Atlantic Iron

& Metal margin.

Consent Agenda - Page 52

http://www.scrapmonster.com/


DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar 8 February 13, 2023 

14. To reduce tracking of sediment off-site by trucks removing materials, we have included a

rock construction entrance priced based on state DOT bid prices.

15. Perimeter control pricing is based on a sediment fence placed on the downgrade side of the

work area perimeters and protecting wetlands and drainage swales within the project area.

Pricing is based on VDOT unit prices.

16. No topsoil is planned to be removed from the site during decommissioning and most of the

site will not have been compacted by heavy truck or equipment traffic, so the site turf

establishment cost is based on VDOT unit prices for applying lime, fertilizer, seed, and mulch

at the Road and Bridge Specifications of Section 603 of $1,000 per acre plus an allowance for

some areas to be de-compacted.

17. Care to prevent damage and breakage of equipment must be exercised, but removal

assumes unskilled common labor under supervision.

Consent Agenda - Page 53



Waverly Solar Phase II

Decommissioning Plan 

January 31, 2023 

Prepared for: 

Sussex County, Virginia 

Prepared for: 

Energix Waverly Solar LLC 
2311 Wilson Blvd 
Suite 640 
Arlington, VA 22201 

Prepared by: 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc 
2035 Maywill Street 
Suite 200 
Richmond, VA 23230 

Consent Agenda - Page 54



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 2 January 31, 2023 

Table of Contents

1.0   Decommissioning Plan ............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.1 General ............................................................................................................................ 1-1 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation ................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities ..................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3.1 Timeline.............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components........................................................... 1-1 

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site ........................................................................... 1-2 

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring .............................................................................................. 1-3 

Consent Agenda - Page 55



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 3 January 31, 2023 

1.0 Decommissioning Plan 

This decommissioning plan is provided by Energix Waverly Solar LLC (the “Project Company”) and will 
detail the projected decommissioning demands associated with the proposed project. 

1.1 General 

The purpose of this decommissioning plan is to provide procedures and an opinion of probable 

construction cost for partial or full closure of the solar facility. Sussex County Code requires a 

decommissioning plan and performance guarantees to supplement plans submitted as part of a 

Conditional Use Permit package. The owner will provide the performance guarantee in the form of a 

bond. This decommissioning plan details provisions for facility deconstruction and site restoration. This 

decommissioning plan shall take effect upon facility abandonment, discontinuation of operation for more 

than 12 consecutive months, or expiration of the use permit as defined by Sussex County Code. 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation 

At the end of commercial operations, the Project Company will be responsible for removal of all above 

and below ground equipment, all roads and the equipment pad foundations. The owner anticipates the 

useful life of the project to be forty (40) years. The owner will provide a notice to the zoning administrator 

by certified mail, or in person, of the proposed date of discontinued operations and plans for removal. 

Prior to initiating the process, a traffic study will be provided to the County and VDOT detailing the 

associated impacts of the decommissioning process. The owner will restore and reclaim the site to pre-

construction condition and topsoil quality to the extent practical, including the access roads. The Project 

Company reserves the right to extend the Project instead of decommissioning at the end commercial 

operations with Landowner permission and upon obtaining all necessary State and local permits. If the 

Project Company seeks to extend the life of the Project, they will decide whether to continue operation 

with existing equipment or to retrofit with upgrades based on new technologies. 

Decommissioning includes removing the solar panels, solar panel racking, steel foundation posts and 

beams, inverters, transformers, overhead cables and lines, equipment pads and foundations, equipment 

cabinets, and ancillary equipment. The civil facilities, access road, security fence, and any drainage 

structures are included in the scope. Standard decommissioning practices would be utilized, including 

dismantling and repurposing, salvaging/recycling, or disposing of the solar energy improvements. 

Within twelve (12) months of all equipment being removed, any holes or voids created by poles, concrete 

pads and other equipment will be filled in with soil to the surrounding grade and seeded with a previously 

approved seed mix. Any grading or seeding will be initiated within six (6) months of all equipment being 

removed. All access roads and other areas compacted by equipment will be de-compacted to a depth of 

18 inches from finished grade prior to fine grading and seeding. This may include re-vegetation as 

meadows, returning the site to a use consistent with this decommissioning plan, or re-development of the 

land for other beneficial uses within the approved zoning ordinance, in consultation with the Landowner. 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities 

1.3.1 Timeline 

Decommissioning is estimated to take 12 months to complete. The decommissioning crew will 

ensure that all equipment and materials are recycled or disposed of properly. However, the Project 

Company shall be able to request an extension of an additional six (6) months if it is in good faith 

diligently decommissioning and is delayed due to weather conditions or other items outside of its 

control. If the facility is not removed within the specified time herein, the County may cause 

removal of the facility, with costs being borne by the Project Company and/or the Landowner. 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components 

The removal and disposal details of the site components are found below. 
Consent Agenda - Page 56



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 4 January 31, 2023 

Modules: Modules will be inspected for physical damage, tested for functionality, and disconnected and 

removed from racking. Functioning modules will be packed and stored in an offsite facility for reuse or 

resale. Non-functioning or non-reusable modules will be packed, palletized, and shipped to the 

manufacturer or a third party for recycling or disposal. 

Racking: Racking and racking components will be disassembled and removed from the steel foundation 

posts, processed to appropriate size, and sent to a metal recycling facility. 

Steel Foundation Posts: All structural foundation steel posts will be pulled out to full depth, removed, 

processed to appropriate size, and shipped to a recycling facility. During decommissioning, the area 

around the foundation posts may be compacted by equipment and, if compacted, the area will be de-

compacted in a manner to adequately restore the topsoil and sub-grade material to a density consistent 

with meadow or woodland uses. 

Overhead and Underground Cables and Lines: Underground cables and conduits contain no materials 

known to be harmful to the environment. As part of the decommissioning of the project, all cable will be 

excavated and removed from the site. Topsoil will be segregated and stockpiled for later use prior to any 

excavation and the subsurface soils will be staged next to the excavation. The subgrade will be 

compacted to a density of approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. Topsoil will be redistributed 

across the disturbed area. Overhead lines will be removed from the project and taken to a recycling 

facility. 

Inverters, Transformers, and Ancillary Equipment: All electrical equipment will be disconnected and 

disassembled. All parts will be removed from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, 

recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with 

applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Equipment Pads and Ancillary Foundations: Topsoil will be removed from an area surrounding the 

foundation and stockpiled for later use/replacement, as applicable. Foundations will be excavated to a 

depth sufficient to remove all conduits, cables, aggregate, and concrete to a depth of 36 inches below 

grade. The remaining excavation will be filled with clean subgrade materials of quality comparable to the 

immediate surrounding area. All unexcavated areas compacted by equipment used in decommissioning 

will be de-compacted in a manner to adequately restore the topsoil and sub-grade material to a density of 

approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. All materials will be removed from the site and 

reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project 

Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Fence: All fence parts and foundations will be removed from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold 

as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent 

with applicable regulations and industry standards. The surrounding areas will be restored to pre-

construction conditions to extent feasible. 

Access Roads: Facility access roads will be used for decommissioning purposes, after which removal 

of roads will be discussed with the Landowner, using the following process: 

1) After final clean-up, roads may be left intact through mutual agreement of the Landowner and the

Project Company unless otherwise restricted by Federal, State, or Local Regulations.

2) If a road is to be removed, aggregate will be removed and shipped from the site to be reused, sold, or

disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable

regulations and industry standards. Geotextile fabric will be removed and disposed of appropriately off

site. Ditch crossings connecting access roads to public roads will be removed unless the Landowner

requests they remain. The subgrade will be de-compacted to a depth of approximately 18 inches using a

chisel plow. Topsoil that was stockpiled during the original construction will be distributed across the

Consent Agenda - Page 57



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 5 January 31, 2023 

open area. The access roads and adjacent areas that are compacted by equipment will be de-

compacted. 

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site 

The current land usage on the site is silviculture. The Project Company assumes that most of the site 

will be returned to meadow, which could be used in the future for silviculture, after decommissioning 

and will implement appropriate measures to facilitate such uses. The Landowner may request a 

condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning 

ordinance. If no specific use is identified, the Project Company will vegetate the site with a grassland 

seed mix. The goal of restoration will be to restore natural hydrology and plant communities to the 

greatest extent practicable while minimizing new disturbance and removal of native vegetation. The 

decommissioning best management practices (BMP’s) to minimize erosion and to contain sediment 

that will be employed on the Project to the extent practicable with the intent of meeting this goal 

include: 

1. Minimize new disturbance and removal of native vegetation to the greatest extent practicable. The
vegetative buffer shall remain in place after decommissioning unless the Landowner requests for it to be
removed. If it is removed, the area will be restored to pre-construction condition unless the Landowner
requests a condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning
ordinance.

2. Removal of all above and below ground solar equipment and access roads up to three feet below

surrounding grade, backfill with subgrade material and cover with suitable topsoil to allow adequate

root penetration for plants, and so that subsurface structures do not substantially disrupt ground water

movements.

3. Any topsoil that is removed from the surface for decommissioning will be stockpiled to be reused

when restoring plant communities. Once decommissioning activity is complete, topsoil will be re-spread

to assist in establishing and maintaining plant communities.

4. Stabilize soils and re-vegetate with regional plants appropriate for the soil conditions and adjacent

habitat and use local seed sources where feasible, consistent with Landowner objectives. Reseeding

with native plants will not be performed for site that will be returned to agricultural use or other more

intensive beneficial uses.

5. During and after decommissioning activities, install erosion and sediment control measures in all

disturbance areas where potential for erosion and sediment transport exists, consistent with storm

water management objectives and requirements.

6. Remediate any petroleum product leaks and chemical releases related to the project prior to

completion of decommissioning.

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring 

Decommissioning of the site will comply with permits for NPDES/SDS CSW Permit, Spill Containment 

and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan, and SWPPP, if grading activities are necessary and exceed 

applicable permit thresholds. Decommissioning should include post-restoration monitoring as required 

by the NPDES/SDS CSW Permit and SWPPP and other applicable requirements. In addition, the 

Project Company’s Field Representative assigned to decommissioning monitoring will stay in contact 

with the Landowner, including onsite check-ins until the NPDES/ SDS CSW permit is closed. 

The costs related to this monitoring are included as a portion of the supervision/overhead line item of the 
cost estimate below.

Consent Agenda - Page 58



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 6 January 31, 2023 

Estimated Decommissioning Costs 
Including Dismantling/Removal Costs 

and Salvage Value 

Project Size 68 MW-AC 
Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

Supervision/Overhead 
Mobilization/Demobilization 

1 
1 

Lump Sum 
Lump Sum  

$55,000.00 
$571,303.00  

$55,000.00 
$571,303.00 

Permitting 

State Permits 1 Lump Sum $10,000.00  $10,000.00 
Subtotal Permitting 
Decommissioning will require a SWPPP and SPCC plan, cost is an estimate of the permit preparation cost   
Civil Infrastructure 

Removal Gravel Surfacing from Road 12,215 Cubic Yards (BV) $4.22 $51,547.30 
Haul Gravel Removed from Road 12,215 Cubic Yards (LV) $11.00 $134,365.00 
Disposal of Gravel Removal from Road 10,809.9 Tons $11.52 $124,530.05 
Removal and Haul Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 73,295 Square Yards $0.31 $22,721.45 

Disposal of Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 73,295 Square Yards $0.16 $11,727.52 
Grade Road Corridor (Re-spread Topsoil) 32,985 Linear Feet $3.81 $125,672.85 
Erosion and Sediment Control for Road Restoration 16,500 Linear Feet $2.16 $35,640.00 
Turf Establishment on Removed Road Area 13.5 Acres $2,420.41 $32,675.54 

Removal of Security Fence 46,710 Linear Feet $6.91 $322,766.10 
Haul of Security Fence 234 Tons $13.25 $3,100.50 
Subtotal Civil Infrastructure $864,746.30 
Civil removal costs are a combination of VDOT unit costs where applicable, RS Means cost for Petersburg, VA, and industry standards. 

Structural Infrastructure 
Removal Tracker Steel Foundation Posts 34,000 Each $14.96 $508,640.00 
Haul Tracker Steel Post 2,360 Tons $13.25 $31,270.00 

Removal Tracker Racking 6,143.5 Each $300.00 $1,843,050.00 
Haul Tracker Racking 6,143.5 Ton $13.25 $81,401.38 
Subtotal Structural Infrastructure $2,464,361.38 
Steel removal costs were calculated by using information from array manufacturers for installation rates and using the same 

rates to calculate total days to remove equipment. Hauling calculations are based on the locations of metals recyclers. 

Electrical Collection/Transmission System 
Removal of PV Panels 154,555 Each $14.40 $2,225,592.00 
Removal of Combiner Boxes 208 Each $70.10 $14,580.80 

Removal of PCU Station (Inverters/Panelboard/Transformer) 12 Each $4,673.17 $56,078.04 
Removal of Scada Equipment 1 Each $5,836.16 $5,836.16 
Removal of PV Underground PV Wire 696,550 LF $3.50 $2,437,925.00 
Haul of PV Underground wire 621 Ton $13.25 $8,228.25 

Subtotal Electrical Collection/Transmission System $4,748,240.25 
Electrical removal costs of PV Panels and Combiner Boxes were based industry standards on installation 
rates of a two-man work crew. PCU Station, MV Equipment and Scada Equipment removal cost are based on removal of 
equipment, concrete pads, and conduits using a truck mounted crane and contractor provided information on installation rates.  

Site Restoration 
Stabilized Construction Entrance 4 Each $2,336.59 $9,346.36 
Perimeter Controls 23,355 Linear Feet $2.16 $50,446.80 

Permanent Seeding on area within Removed Array 13.5 Acres $1,062.08 $14,338.08 
Subtotal Site Restoration $74,131.24 
Site restoration costs are based on past solar project experience. 

Subtotal Demolition/Removals $8,787,782.17 

10% Contingency $878,778.22 
Total Demolition/Restoration plus Contingency $9,666,560.38 

Salvage 
Fencing 175.5 Tons $290.00 $50,895.00 
Steel Posts 1,770 Tons $290.00 $513,300.00 
Module Racking 4,607.5 Tons $290.00 $1,336,175.00 

Consent Agenda - Page 59



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 7 January 31, 2023 

PV Underground Wire 621,000 LBS $1.29 $801,090.00 
PV Modules 154,555 Each $17.16 $2,652,163.80 
Inverters and Transformers 12 Each $2,414.48 $28,973.70 
Scada Equipment 1 Each $1,000.00  $1,000.00 

Subtotal Salvage $5,383,597.50 

Total Demolition Minus Salvage 
$4,282,962.88 

Notes: 
1. Prices used in analysis are estimated based on research of current average costs and salvage values.
2. Prices provided are estimates and may fluctuate over the life of the project.

3. Contractor means and methods may vary and price will be affected by these.

Consent Agenda - Page 60



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 8 January 31, 2023 

Waverly Solar Phase II Project Decommissioning Assumptions 

To develop a cost estimate for the decommissioning of the Waverly Solar Project, Kimley-Horn made 

the following assumptions and used the following pricing references: Costs were estimated based on 

current pricing, technology, and regulatory requirements. The assumptions are listed in order from top 

to bottom of the estimate spreadsheet. When publicly available bid prices or Virginia Department of 

Transportation (VDOT) bid summaries were not available for particular work items, we developed time 

and material-based estimates considering composition of work crews and equipment and material 

required using RS Means data. When materials may have a salvage value at the end of the project life, 

the construction activity costs and from the hauling/freight cost are separated from the disposal costs 

or salvage value to make the revisions to salvage values more transparent. 

1. This Cost Estimate is based off decommissioning occurring in Year 5 since the estimate is
required to be updated every 5 years.

2. This Cost Estimate is based on the site plans created by Kimley-Horn and Associates and

dated November 9, 2022.

3. A project of this size and complexity requires a full-time project manager or support staff.

4. Common labor will be used for most of the tasks except for heavy equipment operation. Labor,
material, and equipment rates are based on the RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg,
VA.

5. Mobilization was estimated at approximately 7% of total cost of other items.

6. Permit applications will require the preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Protection

Plan (SWPPP) and a Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan.

7. Road gravel removal was estimated on a time and material basis using a 6-inch thickness. Since

the material will not remain on site, a hauling cost is added to the removal cost. The recycling

costs for road aggregate are volatile varying from approximately $10 per ton for disposal to

$10 per ton for recycling.

8. Grade Road Corridor reflects the cost of mobilizing and operating light equipment to spread

and smooth the topsoil stockpiled on site to replace the aggregate removed from the road.

9. Erosion and sediment control along road reflects the cost of silt fence on the downhill side

of the road.

10. Topsoil is required to be stockpiled on site during construction, therefore this topsoil is

available on site to replace the road aggregate, once removed. Subsoiling cost to de-

compact roadway areas is estimated as $350 per acre (based on state DOT bid prices), and

Turf Establishment, which includes seed, fertilizer, mulch, and care until grass is established

is $2,070.41 per acre (based on RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg, VA).

11. Fence removal includes loading, hauling, and recycling or disposal. Fence and posts

weigh approximately 10 pounds per foot.

12. Array support posts are generally lightweight “I” beam sections installed with a backhoe-like

piece of specialized equipment. (No structural details are available at the time of

decommissioning cost estimating.) Crew productivity is approximately 150 posts per day,

and

Consent Agenda - Page 61



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 9 January 31, 2023 

the same crew and equipment should have a similar productivity removing the posts, 

resulting in a per post cost of approximately $14.96. 

13. A metal recycling facility (Atlantic Iron and Metal) is in Petersburg, VA, 26.5 miles from the

project site. Pricing was acquired from www.scrapmonster.com. There are 34,000 posts driven

on the project for a total weight of approx. 2,360 tons and we estimate the hauling costs at

approximately $0.50 per ton mile. The pricing is adjusted to 75 percent of the published price

to reflect the processing required for the posts to fit recycling requirements and Atlantic Iron

& Metal margin.

14. Based on the review of a manufacturer’s details of the array support structures the structures

weigh approximately three pounds per square foot. Each solar panel has an area of 26.5

square feet. The facility has 154,555 modules, which equals 4,095,707.5 square feet of array or

6,143.5 tons. The frames are made of light weight steel and/or aluminum extrusions so a crew

with hand tools can disassemble and cut the pieces to sizes for recycling at a rate of about 400

pounds per person per hour, or about $300 per ton.

15. Hauling the steel to Petersburg, VA (Atlantic Iron and Metal – 30 Mill Road, Petersburg, VA) at
$0.50 per ton mile costs about $13.25 per ton.

16. First Solar Series 6 solar panels rated at 440 watts measure approximately four feet by six and

a half feet and weigh 34.5 kg or approximately 76 pounds so they can easily be disconnected,

removed, and packed by a three-person crew at a rate we estimate at 20 panels per hour.

17. 4.2 MW inverters will be used on this project. Pad mounted Inverters are medium sized

enclosures (9’-10” wide, 8’-6” tall, and 8’-0” deep that are mounted on a metal skid, which is

secured to a concrete slab. They weigh 13,230 pounds and can be disconnected by a crew of

electricians. They must be lifted by a truck mounted crane for transport to the recycler. They

contain copper or aluminum windings.

18. Transformers for this project will be mounted on the same metal skid as the inverters. The

transformers weigh approximately 16,700 pounds and contain either copper, or more

commonly, aluminum windings that have significant salvage value. They are typically oil filled,

but most transformer recyclers will accept the transformers with oil. The estimated costs

include removal of the skid and concrete pads and conduits feeding the equipment.

19. Medium voltage (MV) equipment and SCADA equipment are mounted on the same

concrete pad as the transformer and enclosed in weatherproof cabinets. Their size requires

light equipment to remove them. The costs shown include the removal of the concrete

pads.

20. To reduce tracking of sediment off-site by trucks removing materials, we have included a

rock construction entrance priced based on state DOT bid prices.

21. Perimeter control pricing is based on a sediment fence placed on the downgrade side of the

work area perimeters and protecting wetlands and drainage swales within the project area.

Pricing is based on VDOT unit prices.

22. No topsoil is planned to be removed from the site during decommissioning and most of the

site will not have been compacted by heavy truck or equipment traffic, so the site turf

Consent Agenda - Page 62

http://www.scrapmonster.com/


DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase II 10 January 31, 2023 

establishment cost is based on VDOT unit prices for applying lime, fertilizer, seed, and mulch 

at the Road and Bridge Specifications of Section 603 of $1,000 per acre plus an allowance for 

some areas to be de-compacted. 

23. Metal salvage prices (steel, aluminum, copper) are based on quotes from www.scrapmonster

.com for the U.S. East Coast in Oct 2022. These prices are based on delivery to the recycling

facility with the material prepared to meet size, thickness, cleanliness, and other specifications.

A reduction of 25% has been taken from this price to reflect the processing by the Contractor to

meet the requirements. The prices are three months old at the time they are displayed on the

website.

24. The steel posts and array racking are priced based on #1 HMS (high melt steel). ($290)

25. Solar module degradation is approximately 0.50% per year, or 84% capacity remaining after 35

years. There is currently a robust market for used solar panels and pricing can be found on eBay

and other sites. We have assumed that if the modules are producing power, they will have

economic value. To avoid unconservative pricing for the used modules we used the minimum

pricing of $0.04 per watt found in the published paper, “Salvage Value of Photovoltaic

Systems”. Pricing for recycling of damaged modules was obtained from ECS Regenesys (ECS)

and is $0.48 per pound, plus shipping to their Texas facility. An ECS representative noted that in

35 years the recycling process will have changed significantly. For interim decommissioning,

resale of used modules will be most cost effective.

26. There is an active market for reselling and recycling electrical transformers and inverters with

several national companies specializing in recycling. We have assumed that the electrical

equipment will be obsolete at the time of decommissioning so we have based the pricing on a

percentage of the weight that reflects the aluminum windings that can be salvaged. Pricing

was obtained from scrapmonster.com. We have assumed a 25% recovery of the weight of the

transformers and inverters for aluminum windings.

27. The collection lines are priced as copper conductor wire, which is typical. The prices used

reflect a yield of the copper resulting from the insulation and other materials that must be

stripped from the wire so that the coper can be recycled. The estimate uses the East Coast

price of #2 copper wire with a 50% recovery rate as found on www.scrapmonster.com in Oct

2022, which is $1.29 per pound.

28. Care to prevent damage and breakage of equipment, PV modules, inverters, capacitors, and

SCADA must be exercised, but removal assumes unskilled common labor under supervision.

29. All salvage will be for bulk material or equipment.

Consent Agenda - Page 63

http://www.scrapmonster.com/


Waverly Solar Phase III

Decommissioning Plan 

January 31, 2023 

Prepared for: 

Sussex County, Virginia 

Prepared for: 

Energix Waverly Solar LLC 
2311 Wilson Blvd 
Suite 640 
Arlington, VA 22201 

Prepared by: 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc 
2035 Maywill Street 
Suite 200 
Richmond, VA 23230 

Consent Agenda - Page 64



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 2 January 31, 2023 

Table of Contents

1.0   Decommissioning Plan ............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.1 General ............................................................................................................................ 1-1 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation ................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities ..................................................................................... 1-1 

1.3.1 Timeline.............................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components........................................................... 1-1 

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site ........................................................................... 1-2 

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring .............................................................................................. 1-3 

Consent Agenda - Page 65



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 3 January 31, 2023 

1.0 Decommissioning Plan 

This decommissioning plan is provided by Energix Waverly Solar LLC (the “Project Company”) and will 
detail the projected decommissioning demands associated with the proposed project. 

1.1 General 

The purpose of this decommissioning plan is to provide procedures and an opinion of probable 

construction cost for partial or full closure of the solar facility. Sussex County Code requires a 

decommissioning plan and performance guarantees to supplement plans submitted as part of a 

Conditional Use Permit package. The owner will provide the performance guarantee in the form of a 

bond. This decommissioning plan details provisions for facility deconstruction and site restoration. This 

decommissioning plan shall take effect upon facility abandonment, discontinuation of operation for more 

than 12 consecutive months, or expiration of the use permit as defined by Sussex County Code. 

1.2 Decommissioning and Reclamation 

At the end of commercial operations, the Project Company will be responsible for removal of all above 

and below ground equipment, all roads and the equipment pad foundations. The owner anticipates the 

useful life of the project to be forty (40) years. The owner will provide a notice to the zoning administrator 

by certified mail, or in person, of the proposed date of discontinued operations and plans for removal. 

Prior to initiating the process, a traffic study will be provided to the County and VDOT detailing the 

associated impacts of the decommissioning process. The owner will restore and reclaim the site to pre-

construction condition and topsoil quality to the extent practical, including the access roads. The Project 

Company reserves the right to extend the Project instead of decommissioning at the end commercial 

operations with Landowner permission and upon obtaining all necessary State and local permits. If the 

Project Company seeks to extend the life of the Project, they will decide whether to continue operation 

with existing equipment or to retrofit with upgrades based on new technologies. 

Decommissioning includes removing the solar panels, solar panel racking, steel foundation posts and 

beams, inverters, transformers, overhead cables and lines, equipment pads and foundations, equipment 

cabinets, and ancillary equipment. The civil facilities, access road, security fence, and any drainage 

structures are included in the scope. Standard decommissioning practices would be utilized, including 

dismantling and repurposing, salvaging/recycling, or disposing of the solar energy improvements. 

Within twelve (12) months of all equipment being removed, any holes or voids created by poles, concrete 

pads and other equipment will be filled in with soil to the surrounding grade and seeded with a previously 

approved seed mix. Any grading or seeding will be initiated within six (6) months of all equipment being 

removed. All access roads and other areas compacted by equipment will be de-compacted to a depth of 

18 inches from finished grade prior to fine grading and seeding. This may include re-vegetation as 

meadows, returning the site to a use consistent with this decommissioning plan, or re-development of the 

land for other beneficial uses within the approved zoning ordinance, in consultation with the Landowner. 

1.3 List of Decommissioning Activities 

1.3.1 Timeline 

Decommissioning is estimated to take 12 months to complete. The decommissioning crew will 

ensure that all equipment and materials are recycled or disposed of properly. However, the Project 

Company shall be able to request an extension of an additional six (6) months if it is in good faith 

diligently decommissioning and is delayed due to weather conditions or other items outside of its 

control. If the facility is not removed within the specified time herein, the County may cause 

removal of the facility, with costs being borne by the Project Company and/or the Landowner. 

1.3.2 Removal and Disposal of Site Components 

The removal and disposal details of the site components are found below. 

Consent Agenda - Page 66



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 4 January 31, 2023 

Modules: Modules will be inspected for physical damage, tested for functionality, and disconnected and 

removed from racking. Functioning modules will be packed and stored in an offsite facility for reuse or 

resale. Non-functioning or non-reusable modules will be packed, palletized, and shipped to the 

manufacturer or a third party for recycling or disposal. 

Racking: Racking and racking components will be disassembled and removed from the steel foundation 

posts, processed to appropriate size, and sent to a metal recycling facility. 

Steel Foundation Posts: All structural foundation steel posts will be pulled out to full depth, removed, 

processed to appropriate size, and shipped to a recycling facility. During decommissioning, the area 

around the foundation posts may be compacted by equipment and, if compacted, the area will be de-

compacted in a manner to adequately restore the topsoil and sub-grade material to a density consistent 

with meadow or woodland uses. 

Overhead and Underground Cables and Lines: Underground cables and conduits contain no materials 

known to be harmful to the environment. As part of the decommissioning of the project, all cable will be 

excavated and removed from the site. Topsoil will be segregated and stockpiled for later use prior to any 

excavation and the subsurface soils will be staged next to the excavation. The subgrade will be 

compacted to a density of approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. Topsoil will be redistributed 

across the disturbed area. Overhead lines will be removed from the project and taken to a recycling 

facility. 

Inverters, Transformers, and Ancillary Equipment: All electrical equipment will be disconnected and 

disassembled. All parts will be removed from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, 

recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with 

applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Equipment Pads and Ancillary Foundations: Topsoil will be removed from an area surrounding the 

foundation and stockpiled for later use/replacement, as applicable. Foundations will be excavated to a 

depth sufficient to remove all conduits, cables, aggregate, and concrete to a depth of 36 inches below 

grade. The remaining excavation will be filled with clean subgrade materials of quality comparable to the 

immediate surrounding area. All unexcavated areas compacted by equipment used in decommissioning 

will be de-compacted in a manner to adequately restore the topsoil and sub-grade material to a density of 

approximately 90 percent of Standard Proctor. All materials will be removed from the site and 

reconditioned and reused, sold as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project 

Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable regulations and industry standards. 

Fence: All fence parts and foundations will be removed from the site and reconditioned and reused, sold 

as scrap, recycled, or disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent 

with applicable regulations and industry standards. The surrounding areas will be restored to pre-

construction conditions to extent feasible. 

Access Roads: Facility access roads will be used for decommissioning purposes, after which removal 

of roads will be discussed with the Landowner, using the following process: 

1) After final clean-up, roads may be left intact through mutual agreement of the Landowner and the

Project Company unless otherwise restricted by Federal, State, or Local Regulations.

2) If a road is to be removed, aggregate will be removed and shipped from the site to be reused, sold, or

disposed of appropriately, at the Project Company’s sole discretion, consistent with applicable

regulations and industry standards. Geotextile fabric will be removed and disposed of appropriately off

site. Ditch crossings connecting access roads to public roads will be removed unless the Landowner

requests they remain. The subgrade will be de-compacted to a depth of approximately 18 inches using a

chisel plow. Topsoil that was stockpiled during the original construction will be distributed across the

Consent Agenda - Page 67



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 5 January 31, 2023 

open area. The access roads and adjacent areas that are compacted by equipment will be de-

compacted. 

1.3.3 Restoration/Reclamation of Site 

The current land usage on the site is silviculture. The Project Company assumes that most of the site 

will be returned to meadow, which could be used in the future for silviculture, after decommissioning 

and will implement appropriate measures to facilitate such uses. The Landowner may request a 

condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning 

ordinance. If no specific use is identified, the Project Company will vegetate the site with a grassland 

seed mix. The goal of restoration will be to restore natural hydrology and plant communities to the 

greatest extent practicable while minimizing new disturbance and removal of native vegetation. The 

decommissioning best management practices (BMP’s) to minimize erosion and to contain sediment 

that will be employed on the Project to the extent practicable with the intent of meeting this goal 

include: 

1. Minimize new disturbance and removal of native vegetation to the greatest extent practicable. The
vegetative buffer shall remain in place after decommissioning unless the Landowner requests for it to be
removed. If it is removed, the area will be restored to pre-construction condition unless the Landowner
requests a condition less expensive to attain for future property use allowable within the current zoning
ordinance.

2. Removal of all above and below ground solar equipment and access roads up to three feet below

surrounding grade, backfill with subgrade material and cover with suitable topsoil to allow adequate

root penetration for plants, and so that subsurface structures do not substantially disrupt ground water

movements.

3. Any topsoil that is removed from the surface for decommissioning will be stockpiled to be reused

when restoring plant communities. Once decommissioning activity is complete, topsoil will be re-spread

to assist in establishing and maintaining plant communities.

4. Stabilize soils and re-vegetate with regional plants appropriate for the soil conditions and adjacent

habitat and use local seed sources where feasible, consistent with Landowner objectives. Reseeding

with native plants will not be performed for site that will be returned to agricultural use or other more

intensive beneficial uses.

5. During and after decommissioning activities, install erosion and sediment control measures in all

disturbance areas where potential for erosion and sediment transport exists, consistent with storm

water management objectives and requirements.

6. Remediate any petroleum product leaks and chemical releases related to the project prior to

completion of decommissioning.

1.4 Post-Restoration Monitoring 

Decommissioning of the site will comply with permits for NPDES/SDS CSW Permit, Spill Containment 

and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan, and SWPPP, if grading activities are necessary and exceed 

applicable permit thresholds. Decommissioning should include post-restoration monitoring as required 

by the NPDES/SDS CSW Permit and SWPPP and other applicable requirements. In addition, the 

Project Company’s Field Representative assigned to decommissioning monitoring will stay in contact 

with the Landowner, including onsite check-ins until the NPDES/ SDS CSW permit is closed. 

The costs related to this monitoring are included as a portion of the supervision/overhead line item of the 
cost estimate below.

Consent Agenda - Page 68



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 6 January 31, 2023 

Estimated Decommissioning Costs 
Including Dismantling/Removal Costs 

and Salvage Value 

Project Size 50 MW-AC 
Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost 

Supervision/Overhead 
Mobilization/Demobilization 

1 
1 

Lump Sum 
Lump Sum  

$55,000.00 
$481,180.00  

$55,000.00 
$481,180.00 

Permitting 

State Permits 1 Lump Sum $10,000.00  $10,000.00 
Subtotal Permitting 
Decommissioning will require a SWPPP and SPCC plan, cost is an estimate of the permit preparation cost   
Civil Infrastructure 

Removal Gravel Surfacing from Road 14,625 Cubic Yards (BV) $4.22 $61,717.50 
Haul Gravel Removed from Road 14,625 Cubic Yards (LV) $11.00 $160,875.00 
Disposal of Gravel Removal from Road 12,945 Tons $11.52 $149,126.40 
Removal and Haul Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 87,740 Square Yards $0.31 $27,199.40 

Disposal of Geotech Fabric Removed from Beneath Access Roads 87,740 Square Yards $0.16 $14,038.40 
Grade Road Corridor (Re-spread Topsoil) 83,360 Linear Feet $3.81 $317,601.60 
Erosion and Sediment Control for Road Restoration 41,700 Linear Feet $2.16 $90,072.00 
Turf Establishment on Removed Road Area 13.5 Acres $2,420.41 $32,675.54 

Removal of Security Fence 79,055 Linear Feet $6.91 $546,270.05 
Haul of Security Fence 396 Tons $13.25 $5,247.00 
Subtotal Civil Infrastructure $1,404,822.89 
Civil removal costs are a combination of VDOT unit costs where applicable, RS Means cost for Petersburg, VA, and industry standards. 

Structural Infrastructure 
Removal Tracker Steel Foundation Posts 25,000 Each $14.96 $374,000.00 
Haul Tracker Steel Post 1,735 Tons $13.25 $22,988.75 

Removal Tracker Racking 4,517 Each $300.00 $1,355,100.00 
Haul Tracker Racking 4,517 Ton $13.25 $59,850.25 
Subtotal Structural Infrastructure $1,811,939.00 
Steel removal costs were calculated by using information from array manufacturers for installation rates and using the same 

rates to calculate total days to remove equipment. Hauling calculations are based on the locations of metals recyclers.  

Electrical Collection/Transmission System 
Removal of PV Panels 113,640 Each $14.40 $1,636,416.00 
Removal of Combiner Boxes 153 Each $70.10 $10,725.30 

Removal of PCU Station (Inverters/Panelboard/Transformer) 19 Each $4,673.17 $88,790.23 
Removal of Scada Equipment 1 Each $5,836.16 $5,836.16 
Removal of PV Underground PV Wire 512,169 LF $3.50 $1,792,591.50 
Haul of PV Underground wire 457 Ton $13.25 $6,055.25 

Subtotal Electrical Collection/Transmission System $3,540,414.44 
Electrical removal costs of PV Panels and Combiner Boxes were based industry standards on installation 
rates of a two-man work crew. PCU Station, MV Equipment and Scada Equipment removal cost are based on removal of 
equipment, concrete pads, and conduits using a truck mounted crane and contractor provided information on installation rates.  

Site Restoration 
Stabilized Construction Entrance 11 Each $2,336.59 $25,702.49 
Perimeter Controls 35,575 Linear Feet $2.16 $76,842.00 

Permanent Seeding on area within Removed Array 13.5 Acres $1,062.08 $14,338.08 
Subtotal Site Restoration $116,882.57 
Site restoration costs are based on past solar project experience. 

Subtotal Demolition/Removals $7,420,238.90 

10% Contingency $742,023.89 
Total Demolition/Restoration plus Contingency $8,162,262.78 

Salvage 
Fencing 297 Tons $290.00 $86,130.00 
Steel Posts 1,301.25 Tons $290.00 $377,362.50 
Module Racking 3,387.75 Tons $290.00 $982,447.50 

Consent Agenda - Page 69



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 7 January 31, 2023 

PV Underground Wire 457,000 LBS $1.29 $589,530.00 
PV Modules 113,640 Each $17.16 $1,950,062.40 
Inverters and Transformers 19 Each $2,414.48 $45,875.03 
Scada Equipment 1 Each $1,000.00  $1,000.00 

Subtotal Salvage $4,032,407.43 

Total Demolition Minus Salvage $4,129,855.36 

Notes: 
1. Prices used in analysis are estimated based on research of current average costs and salvage values.
2. Prices provided are estimates and may fluctuate over the life of the project.
3. Contractor means and methods may vary and price will be affected by these.

Waverly Solar Phase III Project Decommissioning Assumptions 
Consent Agenda - Page 70



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 8 January 31, 2023 

To develop a cost estimate for the decommissioning of the Waverly Solar Project, Kimley-Horn made 

the following assumptions and used the following pricing references: Costs were estimated based on 

current pricing, technology, and regulatory requirements. The assumptions are listed in order from top 

to bottom of the estimate spreadsheet. When publicly available bid prices or Virginia Department of 

Transportation (VDOT) bid summaries were not available for particular work items, we developed time 

and material-based estimates considering composition of work crews and equipment and material 

required using RS Means data. When materials may have a salvage value at the end of the project life, 

the construction activity costs and from the hauling/freight cost are separated from the disposal costs 

or salvage value to make the revisions to salvage values more transparent. 

1. This Cost Estimate is based off decommissioning occurring in Year 5 since the estimate is
required to be updated every 5 years.

2. This Cost Estimate is based on the site plans created by Kimley-Horn and Associates and

dated November 9, 2022.

3. A project of this size and complexity requires a full-time project manager or support staff.

4. Common labor will be used for most of the tasks except for heavy equipment operation. Labor,
material, and equipment rates are based on the RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg,
VA.

5. Mobilization was estimated at approximately 7% of total cost of other items.

6. Permit applications will require the preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Protection

Plan (SWPPP) and a Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan.

7. Road gravel removal was estimated on a time and material basis using a 6-inch thickness. Since

the material will not remain on site, a hauling cost is added to the removal cost. The recycling

costs for road aggregate are volatile varying from approximately $10 per ton for disposal to

$10 per ton for recycling.

8. Grade Road Corridor reflects the cost of mobilizing and operating light equipment to spread

and smooth the topsoil stockpiled on site to replace the aggregate removed from the road.

9. Erosion and sediment control along road reflects the cost of silt fence on the downhill side

of the road.

10. Topsoil is required to be stockpiled on site during construction, therefore this topsoil is

available on site to replace the road aggregate, once removed. Subsoiling cost to de-

compact roadway areas is estimated as $350 per acre (based on state DOT bid prices), and

Turf Establishment, which includes seed, fertilizer, mulch, and care until grass is established

is $2,070.41 per acre (based on RSMeans City Cost Index (CCI) for Petersburg, VA).

11. Fence removal includes loading, hauling, and recycling or disposal. Fence and posts

weigh approximately 10 pounds per foot.

12. Array support posts are generally lightweight “I” beam sections installed with a backhoe-like

piece of specialized equipment. (No structural details are available at the time of

decommissioning cost estimating.) Crew productivity is approximately 150 posts per day,

and

Consent Agenda - Page 71



DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 9 January 31, 2023 

the same crew and equipment should have a similar productivity removing the posts, 

resulting in a per post cost of approximately $14.96. 

13. A metal recycling facility (Atlantic Iron and Metal) is in Petersburg, VA, 26.5 miles from the

project site. Pricing was acquired from www.scrapmonster.com. There are 25,000 posts driven

on the project for a total weight of approx. 1,735 tons and we estimate the hauling costs at

approximately $0.50 per ton mile. The pricing is adjusted to 75 percent of the published price

to reflect the processing required for the posts to fit recycling requirements and Atlantic Iron

& Metal margin.

14. Based on the review of a manufacturer’s details of the array support structures the structures

weigh approximately three pounds per square foot. Each solar panel has an area of 26.5

square feet. The facility has 113,640 modules, which equals 3,011,460 square feet of array or

4,517 tons. The frames are made of light weight steel and/or aluminum extrusions so a crew

with hand tools can disassemble and cut the pieces to sizes for recycling at a rate of about 400

pounds per person per hour, or about $300 per ton.

15. Hauling the steel to Petersburg, VA (Atlantic Iron and Metal – 30 Mill Road, Petersburg, VA) at
$0.50 per ton mile costs about $13.25 per ton.

16. First Solar Series 6 solar panels rated at 440 watts measure approximately four feet by six and

a half feet and weigh 34.5 kg or approximately 76 pounds so they can easily be disconnected,

removed, and packed by a three-person crew at a rate we estimate at 20 panels per hour.

17. 4.2 MW inverters will be used on this project. Pad mounted Inverters are medium sized

enclosures (9’-10” wide, 8’-6” tall, and 8’-0” deep that are mounted on a metal skid, which is

secured to a concrete slab. They weigh 13,230 pounds and can be disconnected by a crew of

electricians. They must be lifted by a truck mounted crane for transport to the recycler. They

contain copper or aluminum windings.

18. Transformers for this project will be mounted on the same metal skid as the inverters. The

transformers weigh approximately 16,700 pounds and contain either copper, or more

commonly, aluminum windings that have significant salvage value. They are typically oil filled,

but most transformer recyclers will accept the transformers with oil. The estimated costs

include removal of the skid and concrete pads and conduits feeding the equipment.

19. Medium voltage (MV) equipment and SCADA equipment are mounted on the same

concrete pad as the transformer and enclosed in weatherproof cabinets. Their size requires

light equipment to remove them. The costs shown include the removal of the concrete

pads.

20. To reduce tracking of sediment off-site by trucks removing materials, we have included a

rock construction entrance priced based on state DOT bid prices.

21. Perimeter control pricing is based on a sediment fence placed on the downgrade side of the

work area perimeters and protecting wetlands and drainage swales within the project area.

Pricing is based on VDOT unit prices.

22. No topsoil is planned to be removed from the site during decommissioning and most of the

site will not have been compacted by heavy truck or equipment traffic, so the site turf

Consent Agenda - Page 72

http://www.scrapmonster.com/


DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 

Waverly Solar Phase III 10 January 31, 2023 

establishment cost is based on VDOT unit prices for applying lime, fertilizer, seed, and mulch 

at the Road and Bridge Specifications of Section 603 of $1,000 per acre plus an allowance for 

some areas to be de-compacted. 

23. Metal salvage prices (steel, aluminum, copper) are based on quotes from www.scrapmonster

.com for the U.S. East Coast in Oct 2022. These prices are based on delivery to the recycling

facility with the material prepared to meet size, thickness, cleanliness, and other specifications.

A reduction of 25% has been taken from this price to reflect the processing by the Contractor to

meet the requirements. The prices are three months old at the time they are displayed on the

website.

24. The steel posts and array racking are priced based on #1 HMS (high melt steel). ($290)

25. Solar module degradation is approximately 0.50% per year, or 84% capacity remaining after 35

years. There is currently a robust market for used solar panels and pricing can be found on eBay

and other sites. We have assumed that if the modules are producing power, they will have

economic value. To avoid unconservative pricing for the used modules we used the minimum

pricing of $0.04 per watt found in the published paper, “Salvage Value of Photovoltaic

Systems”. Pricing for recycling of damaged modules was obtained from ECS Regenesys (ECS)

and is $0.48 per pound, plus shipping to their Texas facility. An ECS representative noted that in

35 years the recycling process will have changed significantly. For interim decommissioning,

resale of used modules will be most cost effective.

26. There is an active market for reselling and recycling electrical transformers and inverters with

several national companies specializing in recycling. We have assumed that the electrical

equipment will be obsolete at the time of decommissioning so we have based the pricing on a

percentage of the weight that reflects the aluminum windings that can be salvaged. Pricing

was obtained from scrapmonster.com. We have assumed a 25% recovery of the weight of the

transformers and inverters for aluminum windings.

27. The collection lines are priced as copper conductor wire, which is typical. The prices used

reflect a yield of the copper resulting from the insulation and other materials that must be

stripped from the wire so that the coper can be recycled. The estimate uses the East Coast

price of #2 copper wire with a 50% recovery rate as found on www.scrapmonster.com in Oct

2022, which is $1.29 per pound.

28. Care to prevent damage and breakage of equipment, PV modules, inverters, capacitors, and

SCADA must be exercised, but removal assumes unskilled common labor under supervision.

29. All salvage will be for bulk material or equipment.

Consent Agenda - Page 73

http://www.scrapmonster.com/


BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognition #3.01 

Subject: Recognition of Retired Public Safety Coordinator, G. Reid Foster 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  After starting employment with the County on January 14, 2019 as the Public Safety Coordinator, 
Mr. Reid Foster retired on March 1, 2023. 

Reid worked in the Fire and EMS field for over 45 years.  He assisted with establishing protocol for the COVID 
pandemic, the radio system, keeping us informed with severe and or threatening weather conditions, to 
name a few. 

County Administration wants to take this opportunity to thank Mr. Garland Reid Foster for serving 
Sussex County so selflessly. 

Recommendation:  That the Board approves and adopts the resolution honoring Mr. James J. Shanko, 
III, on his retirement. 

Attachment:  A copy of the resolution. 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:  That the Board approves and adopts the resolution honoring Mr. Garland Reid Foster, 
on his retirement. 

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 



Resolution 

In Recognition of the retirement 
G. Reid Foster

WHEREAS, Garland Reid Foster served as the Public Safety Coordinator of Sussex County from 
January 14, 2019, to February 28, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster has served as a volunteer firefighter in Prince George County for over 45 
years, and brought a wealth of fire and emergency medical services experience and knowledge 
to his position in Sussex County; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster worked closely with the Sussex County Fire and Rescue Association 
during his tenure, working to coordinate and prioritize a range of needs related to equipment, fire 
turnout gear, vehicles, and facilities for Sussex County’s volunteer fire and rescue organizations; 
and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster was instrumental in developing a ten-year capital improvements plan and 
getting Sussex County’s first master lease program in place for the purchase of new fire vehicles, 
and for the acquisition of new fire vehicles for each volunteer fire department; and 

WHEREAS, WHEREAS, Mr. Foster played a critical role in Sussex County’s response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, putting protocols in place for county offices, scheduling vaccination clinics 
and testing sites, and providing general coordination with the Crater Health District, and was a 
strong advocate for establishing vaccination sites within Sussex County; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster was a committed member of the Sussex County Management Team, 
collaborating with county department heads and Constitutional Officers on a variety of issues, and 
providing insight on fire and EMS issues facing the county, and served as a respected 
representative of Sussex County in his interactions within the region and state agencies. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SUSSEX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS that 

Garland Reid Foster is recognized for his faithful service and commitment to the residents of 

Sussex County over the past four years, and for his many positive impacts on public safety. 

March 16, 2023 

Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 
Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Recognitions - Page 2



WHEREAS, Garland Reid Foster served as the Public Safety Coordinator of Sussex County from January 

14, 2019, to February 28, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster has served as a volunteer firefighter in Prince George County for over 45 years, 

and brought a wealth of fire and emergency medical services experience and knowledge to his position 

in Sussex County; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster worked closely with the Sussex County Fire and Rescue Association during his 

tenure, working to coordinate and prioritize a range of needs related to equipment, fire turnout gear, 

vehicles, and facilities for Sussex County’s volunteer fire and rescue organizations; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster was instrumental in developing a ten-year capital improvements plan and getting 

Sussex County’s first master lease program in place for the purchase of new fire vehicles, and for the 

acquisition of new fire vehicles for each volunteer fire department; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster played a critical role in Sussex County’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic, 

putting protocols in place for county offices, scheduling vaccination clinics and testing sites, and 

providing general coordination with the Crater Health District, and was a strong advocate for 

establishing vaccination sites within Sussex County; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster has built a strong working relationship with VDEM to ensure Sussex County is 

prepared to handle emergency events through planning and hazard mitigation activities; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster has worked tirelessly to address issues with and identify needed upgrades for the 

county’s radio communication system, and played a key role in securing an agreement with the Virginia 

Department of Corrections to pay for half of the radio system maintenance agreement costs; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster successfully managed the transition of contracted EMS staff over the past year to 

ensure the provision of quality EMS care for county residents; and  

WHEREAS, Mr. Foster was a committed member of the Sussex County Management Team, collaborating 

with county department heads and Constitutional Officers on a variety of issues, and providing insight 

on fire and EMS issues facing the county, and served as a respected representative of Sussex County in 

his interactions within the region and state agencies. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SUSSEX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS that Garland Reid Foster 

is recognized for his faithful service and commitment to the residents of Sussex County over the past 

four years, and for his many positive impacts on public safety. 

Recognitions - Page 3



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognition #3.02 

Subject: Recognition of Retired Lieutenant James J. Shanko, III – Sheriff Giles 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Sheriff Giles contacted Administration and requested recognition of Lieutenant James 
Shanko on his retirement on March 1, 2023 after 30 years of service with the Sheriff’s Department.  

The Sheriff’s Department, his co-workers, the Board, and County Administration would like to 
express our appreciation and extend our congratulations to Mr. James J. Shanko, III on his 
retirement. 

Mr. Shanko will be present to accept the resolution. 

Recommendation:  That the Board approves and adopts the resolution honoring Mr. James J. Shanko, 
III, on his retirement. 

Attachment:  A copy of the resolution in 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:  That the Board approves and adopts the resolution honoring Mr. James J. Shanko, III, 
on his retirement. 

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 

Recognitions - Page 4



 
 
 

Resolution 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In Recognition of the retirement 
James J. Shanko, III 

 
 

WHEREAS, James J. Shanko, III, began his employment with the 
Sussex County Sheriff’s Office on January 1, 1993 as a Jailor under Sheriff 
E. S. Kitchen, Jr; and 

 
WHEREAS, He was promoted on July 1, 2003 to Corporal; and 
 
WHEREAS, shortly thereafter, he was promoted to Sergeant on July 1, 

2004, with both promotions being under Sheriff E. E. Kitchen, Jr.; and  
 
WHEREAS, he held the rank of Sergeant until January 1, 2020, when 

he was promoted to Lieutenant under Sheriff E. L. Giles, Sr.; and 
 
WHEREAS, Lieutenant Shanko served as the Secretary for the Virginia 

Correctional Association (VCA); AND 
 
WHEREAS, after thirty years of dedicated service under three 

Sheriffs—Sheriff E. S. Kitchen, Jr, the late Sheriff R. R. Bell and Sheriff E. L, 
Giles, Sr.; James J. Shanko, III retired as a Lieutenant on March 1, 2023  

 
BE IT RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

hereby recognizes and congratulates Mr. James J. Shanko, III on his 
retirement and wishes him the best in his future endeavors. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this 

Resolution be spread upon the minutes of this Board meeting this 16th day 
of March, 2023. 

 
 

        

Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 
Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Recognitions - Page 5



James J. Shanko, III began his employment with the Sussex County Sheriff’s Office on January 

1, 1993 as a Jailor under Sheriff E.S. Kitchen, Jr. He was promoted on July 1, 2003 to Corporal 

and shortly thereafter, he was promoted to Sergeant on July 1, 2004; both promotions were 

received under Sheriff E.S. Kitchen, Jr. 

He held the rank of Sergeant until Jan 1, 2020 when he was promoted to Lt. under Sheriff E.L. 

Giles, Sr. and kept that rank until his retirement on March 1, 2023. James Shanko retired after 

thirty years of service and worked under three Sheriff’s, Sheriff E.S. Kitchen, Jr., Sheriff R.R. 

Bell, and Sheriff E.L. Giles, Sr. James Shanko was the Secretary for the VCA (Virginia 

Correctional Association). 

Recognitions - Page 6



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognition #3.03 
 

Subject:  VDOT Project Update – Jerry Kee,  
 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 
 
============================================================================== 
 
Summary:   Jerry Kee with VDOT (Franklin Office) will present an update on VDOT projects in Sussex County, 
to include the Route 40/Route 35 roundabout project, the Glyndon-Carver paving project, and a traffic 
safety study for US 460 in Wakefield.   
  

Recommendation:  No action is requested. 
 
Attachment:   None  
   

============================================================================== 
 
ACTION:   N/A 
 
 

MOTION BY:    SECONDED BY:     

 

              
 
              
 
              
 
              
 
              
 
 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
 
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 
    White  ___ ___   
    (Tie Breaker) 
 

  

Recognitions - Page 7



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognition #3.04 
 

Subject:  DSS Advisory Board Update – Leah Brantley (DSS Advisory Board Chair) & Valerie Pierce 
(Interim DSS Director) 

 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 
 
============================================================================== 
 
Summary:   Leah Brantley, Sussex County DSS Advisory Board Chair, and Valerie Pierce, Interim DSS 
Director, will provide a brief update on Sussex County Department of Social Services (DSS) operations.   
  

Recommendation:  No action is requested. 
 
Attachment:  None  
   

============================================================================== 
 

ACTION:   N/A 
 

 

MOTION BY:    SECONDED BY:     

 

              
 
              
 
              
 
              
 
              
 
 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
 
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 
    White  ___ ___   
    (Tie Breaker) 
 

  

Recognitions - Page 8



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Public Hearing Item #4.01 

Subject: Ordinance Amendment #2023-01: Amendment to Sussex County Planning 
Commission Ordinance 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Attached for your consideration is an amendment to the Sussex County Planning 
Commission Ordinance to reduce the membership of the Planning Commission from 13 to 9, to 
re-appoint its current membership as a result of redistricting, and to make several updates to the 
previously adopted Ordinances and Resolutions related to the Planning Commission.    

Recommendation: 

Attachments:  Staff report, Notice of Public Hearing, Ordinance Amendment #2023-01 Planning 
Commission Ordinance and application documents. 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:  TBD 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Public Hearing - Page 1



Public Hearing - Page 2



Public Hearing - Page 3



Public Hearing - Page 4



Public Hearing - Page 5



Public Hearing - Page 6



Public Hearing - Page 7



Public Hearing - Page 8



Public Hearing - Page 9



Public Hearing - Page 10



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Appointments #5.01 

Subject:   Appointment to District 19 Community Services Board 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  There is a vacancy on the District 19 Community Services Board.  A new appointment 
will need to be made.  Per D19 CSB, this appointment does not have to be the Director of Social 
Services.  The position description is included.  The new appointment will be a three year term, 
starting immediately, expiring February 28, 2026 should the appointment be made at the 
February meeting.  (The three year term will be determined by the month of the appointment 
per D19 CSB.) 

Recommendation: That the Board appoints a representative for Sussex County to the District 19 
Community Services Board with a term beginning immediately, expiring February 28, 2026. 

Attachments:  (1) Board member position description; (2) By Laws; and (3) Meeting Schedule  

============================================================================== 

ACTION: That the Board appoints a representative for Sussex County to the District 19 
Community Services Board with a term beginning immediately, expiring February 28, 2026. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White (Tie Breaker) ___ ___  



District 19 Community Services Board 

 Board Member Position Description 

The purpose of this Community Services Board (referred to as the Board) shall be to be responsible to the 

cities of Colonial Heights, Emporia, Hopewell, Petersburg, and the counties of Greensville, Prince 

George, Sussex and Surry, Virginia, in establishment and operation of Community Mental Health, 

Developmental, and Substance Use programs provided for by the Chapter 5, of Title 37.2 of the Code of 

Virginia (1950) as amended.   

The Board, as a direct agent of the governmental entities which have established it, shall be subject to the 

laws and regulations relating to such agencies of those governments and shall have the general powers, 

duties and responsibilities of a Board as outlined in Chapter 5 of Title 37.2-504, Code of Virginia.  

Duties and Expectations for Members of the District 19 CSB Board of Directors 

Executive Director as chief executive officer, reports directly to Board and implements all policy, 

financial and regulatory requirements, directs operations, staffing, service delivery, contracting, and all 

aspects of the Board. 

In collaboration with the Executive Director, members of the Board provide oversight and assurance of 

the following: 

 To review and evaluate all existing and proposed services and facilities available to serve the

community.

 Review and approve the performance contract as required by DBHDS.

 Make policies or regulations concerning the delivery of services and operation of facilities under

its direction or supervision, subject to applicable policies and regulations adopted by the Board.

 Appoint an Executive Director of community mental health, developmental, and substance use

services, who meets the minimum qualifications established by the Department, and prescribe

his/her duties.

 Ensure establishment of a reimbursement system to maximize the collection of fees from

individuals receiving services under its jurisdiction or supervision, consistent with the provisions

of § 37.2-511, and from responsible third party payors.

 Take all necessary and appropriate actions to maximize the involvement and participation of

individuals receiving services and family members of individuals receiving services in policy

formulation and services planning, delivery, and evaluation.

 Assure quality services and funding compliance with federal, state and local mandates and

priorities.

 Chair of the Board signs Performance Contract with state agency for state funds and obligations

and provider agreements with Medicaid agencies or designees as required.

 Advocates for services and funding to support needed services within the community, to local and

state officials.

 Board members as local officials are must comply with FOIA, COIA, HIPAA, and all other

regulations.

 Board members will comply with duties and responsibilities per the Board of Directors by-laws.

Appointments - Page 2

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/37.2-511/


Qualifications: 

Per § 37.2-50, Appointments to the community services board shall be broadly representative of the 

community. One-third of the appointments to the board shall be individuals who are receiving or who 

have received services or family members of individuals who are receiving or who have received 

services, at least one of whom shall be an individual receiving services.  One or more appointments may 

be nongovernmental service providers. Sheriffs or their designees also shall be appointed, when practical. 

No employee of the community services board or employee or board member of an organization that 

receives funding from any community services board shall be appointed a member of that board. 

No community services board shall be composed of a majority of local government officials, elected or 

appointed, as members, nor shall any county or city be represented on a board by more than two officials, 

elected or appointed. 

Attendance and Participation: 

 Attend and actively participate in (8 monthly meetings on the 4th Thursday of the month, except

June, July, August and November) per the by-laws.   A member is responsible for notifying the

Clerk of the Board in the event of an absence, it at all possible. Because representation form each

locality is important, and decisions can only be made with a quorum of members present, Board

Members must commit their time and travel to attend these meetings.

 Attend new board member orientation (approximately 1 hour) with executive director before

attending first board meeting.

 Attend and actively participate in planning retreat (as needed).

 Attend and participate in telephone, webcam or zoom conference in between regularly scheduled

meetings as needed.

 Board members are strongly encouraged to participate in additional events such as D19 All Staff

meetings, public budget hearings, County Board of Supervisors meeting, City Council meetings,

and advocacy opportunities throughout the year.

Compensation/Employment: 

 Board members are to be compensated $50.00 (not to exceed $600.00 per calendar year) for

attending regularly scheduled board meetings.  Board members will be reimbursed for mileage at

the rate approved within the Commonwealth of Virginia’s Appropriation Act. Members will have

the right to accept or decline compensation and/ or reimbursement for mileage.  If members

should decline the acceptance of payment for board meeting attendance and/or mileage

reimbursement, these funds will be returned to the general fund.

 Board members are not employees of District 19 Community Services Board.

Appointments - Page 3



Appointments - Page 4



Appointments - Page 5



Appointments - Page 6



Appointments - Page 7



Appointments - Page 8



Appointments - Page 9



Appointments - Page 10



Appointments - Page 11



BOARD ACTION FORM 
 
Agenda Item:   Appointments #5.02 
 
Subject: Housing Oversight Board Appointments 
 
Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 
 
============================================================================== 
 
Summary:  During the Housing Rehabilitation Oversight Board meeting Wednesday, March 8, 
2023, there was discussion of a new appointment to the Board.  That member is Robyn Croft.  
She will serve in place of Charlene Pope as the Neighborhood Sparkplug.  Ms. Pope represented 
Waverly under the Regional Urgent Need Grant (UNOS). Now that the UNOS project is complete, 
she is no longer needed on the Board.  Ms. Croft will be her replacement representing the 
Wakefield area under the Pocahontas Neighborhood Revitalization Grant.  
 
The current Housing Rehabilitation Oversight Board members, including Ms. Croft, are: 
 
Wayne Jones, Board of Supervisors Representative 
Richard Douglas, County Administrator 
Kelly Moore, Finance Director 
Katrina Faltz, Neighborhood Sparkplug 
Robyn Croft, Neighborhood Sparkplug 
 
Recommendation:    
 
Attachment:  None 
 
============================================================================== 

 

ACTION:   That the Board appoints all of the current Board members to the Housing Rehabilitation 
Oversight Board. 
 
MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___  
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
  
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)     

Appointments – Page 12 



Action Items – Page 1 
 

BOARD ACTION FORM 
 
Agenda Item:  Action Item #6.01 
 
Subject:    Exxon Fuel Card Proposal - Ernest Giles (Sheriff), Oyik Mora (Exxon Mobil Fleet Fuel Card 

Program), and Sylvia Jackson (PMG Davis Travel Center) 

 
Board Meeting Date: February 23 2023 
 

============================================================================== 
 

Summary: The antiquated county fuel system located behind the courthouse has not been 
operational since mid-July.  Rather than spending funds to repair this system that will continue 
to be unreliable and obsolete, the Sheriff and county staff have reviewed various options to 
provide fuel for county vehicles, and are recommending the use of the Exxon Mobil Fleet Fuel 
Card Program.  Oyik Mora with the Exxon Mobil Fleet Program and Sylvia Jackson with Davis 
Travel Centers will present some details on the program, which does not have a minimum 
contract commitment.  In lieu of repairing or replacing the current system (estimated to cost 
about $200,000), staff recommends moving forward with the fuel card program for at least a 
one-year trial period. 
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Sussex County’s participation in the Exxon 
Mobil Fleet Fuel Card Program. 
 
Attachments: Photo of existing fuel system, summary email, background materials Budget 

Amendment Resolutions, VEDP VBRSP Award Letter, TRRC Award Letter, and 
Project Budget  

 

============================================================================= 
 

ACTION:  That the Board approves Sussex County’s participation in the Exxon Mobil Fleet Fuel 
Card program. 
 

              
               
 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___  
 

Futrell ___ ___     Seward ___ ___ 
  
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)     



Action Items - Page 2



Action Items - Page 3



Action Items - Page 4



Action Items - Page 5



Action Items - Page 6



Action Items - Page 7



Action Items - Page 8



Action Items - Page 9



Action Items - Page 10



Action Items - Page 11



Action Items - Page 12



Action Items - Page 13



Action Items - Page 14



Action Items - Page 15



Action Items - Page 16



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Unfinished Business  #8.01 

Subject:  Public Safety Coordinator Position Reclassification and VRS Change 

Board Meeting Date:  March 16 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:  To better accommodate potential employee needs and better provide support to our 
volunteer fire departments, staff is requesting that the Public Safety Coordinator position be 
reclassified to Chief of Emergency Services (as recommended by consultant Thomas Hicks), to 
include an adjustment to the position annual salary (budgeted) to $90k. In addition staff is 
requesting adoption of the attached resolution to make this position eligible for the enhanced 
state retirement benefits for hazardous positions. This shift will allow the position to assist the 
volunteer fire departments in a firefighting capacity and is supported by the county fire/rescue 
association. 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the position reclassification, salary 
adjustment, and VRS resolution as noted above 

Attachments:  Hazardous Duty Retirement Resolution #23-12F, Draft Chief of Emergency 
Services Job Description, and VRS Certification of Hazardous Duty Service Form 

============================================================================= 

ACTION:  That the Board approves the Public Safety Coordinator position reclassification to Chief 
of Emergency Services to include an adjustment to the position annual salary (budgeted) to $90k 
and adopts Resolution #23-12F to make the position eligible for the enhanced State Retirement 
benefits for hazardous positions. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Unfinished Business - Page 1



RESOLUTION 23-12F 

At a regular meeting of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors held in the General District 

Courtroom of the Government Center on March 16, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

PRESENT: VOTE: 

The Honorable Wayne O. Jones, Chairman   ______ 

The Honorable Susan B. Seward, Vice-Chair ______ 

The Honorable C. Eric Fly ______ 

The Honorable Alfred G. Futrell ______ 

The Honorable Debbie P. Jones ______ 

The Honorable Rufus E. Tyler, Sr. ______ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SUSSEX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVING 

OF THE COUNTY’S PARTICIPATION IN THE ENHANCED HAZARDOUS DUTY 

BENEFITS FOR PUBLIC SAFETY TO INCLUDE LAW ENFORCEMENT AND 

FIREFIGHTERS FROM THE VIRGINIA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (VRS)  

WHEREAS, subject to the approval of the Virginia Retirement System ("VRS") Board of 

Trustees, Code of Virginia § 51.1-138 permits a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia currently participating in VRS to make an irrevocable election to provide enhanced 

hazardous duty retirement benefits for its eligible employees as outlined in § 51.1-138; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sussex County, Virginia (the "Employer") 

does hereby elect to have such employees of Employer who are employed in positions as full time 

Law Enforcement, Firefighters, Emergency Medical Technicians and whose tenure is not restricted 

as to temporary or provisional appointment, become eligible, effective the first day of May 2023, 

for VRS benefits equivalent to those provided for state police officers of the Department of State 

Police, as set out in § 51.1-13 8 including the retirement multiplier of 1.85%, in lieu of the benefits 

that would otherwise be provided to such employees, and Employer agrees to pay the employer 

cost for providing such benefits; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the officers of Employer are hereby authorized and directed in the name of 

Employer to carry out the provisions of this resolution and to pay to the Treasurer of Virginia from 

time to time such sums as are due to be paid by Employer for this purpose. 

Unfinished Business - Page 2



Resolution #23-12F 

March 16, 2023

Page 2 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors, this 23
rd

 

day of February, 2023, approves of the County’s participation in Enhanced Hazardous Duty 

Benefits for Law Enforcement Officers from the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) 

Adopted March 16, 2023 

_________________________________ 
Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors  

Unfinished Business - Page 3



JOB DESCRIPTION 

Sussex County, VA 

Job Title Chief of Emergency Services 

Department Emergency Services Department 

Category Full Time 

FSLA Exempt 

Pay Grade 

Report to: County Administrator 

Supervises: 

JOB SUMMARY/PURPOSE 

The Emergency Services Chief is a county leader who serves as a key member of the 

Executive Leadership Team translating Board of Supervisors’ strategic plan into action 

through development of policies, leadership, innovation, and resource allocation and 

management.  

The Emergency Services Chief is responsible for establishing major departmental policies, 

planning long-term programs, and making executive-level decisions in alignment with the 

direction of the organization as defined by Board of Supervisors and the County 

Administrator. Primary duties involve overseeing emergency management and coordinating 

emergency response activities in the county, including developing recommendations and 

plans for the protection of life and property within the community. This position also serves 

as a liaison to the volunteer fire and EMS departments and Sheriff’s offices to support and 

mitigate response along with managing portions of the radio and communication system.  

Work will require attending some evening meetings and occasional weekend 

meetings/events. 

Work is performed with wide latitude for independent judgment and action, and is reviewed 

by the County Administrator through conferences, reports, and success of the department's 

programs and activities.  

This position is an essential position and classified as hazardous duty as the Chief, responds, 

engages and mitigates active emergency incidents including fires, hazardous materials and 

other all hazard events.  

ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS 
(The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may 

be performed.  The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is 

similar, related or a logical assignment to the position.) 

 Demonstrate a high level of customer service; encourage others to focus on the

customer; foster an environment where customer service is a priority

Unfinished Business - Page 4



 Communicate with customers to ensure that, where possible, they are satisfied, and

that their needs are being addressed; solicit and evaluate customer feedback

 Act as an ambassador by understanding and fostering the organization's mission and

vision

 Exhibit pride in self, the department, the county, and the community; conduct self in

a professional manner

 Demonstrate integrity and build trust through credibility, reliability, commitment,

loyalty, and ethical behavior

 Address difficult or contentious issues in a constructive manner

 Support and promote change; demonstrate flexibility and take calculated risks when

appropriate

 Participate in personal growth opportunities, and attend trainings designed to enhance

capacity to bring new skills and ideas to the job and the organization

 Work to continuously improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the service or

product being delivered

 Demonstrate support for team efforts by accepting new roles and responsibilities, and

helping others achieve objectives

 Value diversity; demonstrate an awareness of differences; demonstrate sensitivity,

and adapt behaviors and communication to accommodate these differences

 Manage and serve as the County’s liaison with any contractual services executed

through Sussex County regarding public safety to include contractual EMS services,

purchase of equipment, the management of the radio system, mitigation contracts

during an active emergency and other identified future public safety needs.

 EXECUTIVE COMPETENCIES 

 Embrace public service in the community and demonstrate a global perspective in

decisions

 Communicate and collaborate with the County Administrator and Executive

Leadership Team to develop innovative solutions that support and promote a high-

performing organization

 Effectively participate on the Executive Leadership Team by demonstrating strategic

and systemic problem-solving skills; communication, collaboration and cooperation

are expectations required of leadership

 Represent the County in a professional manner and positive light

 Support and promote diversity, equity, and inclusivity

 Develop performance measures based on critical operational outcomes to meet

strategic objectives

 Develop policies, procedures, and best practices that demonstrate exceptional

customer service and prudent stewardship of County revenues

 Respond to contentious issues in a timely manner that reflects and supports

management philosophy and decisions

 Support and encourage ongoing employee development through training, continuing

education, and job-specific training

 Model and encourage employees to demonstrate ownership by fostering a collegial

and supportive work environment

Unfinished Business - Page 5



 Be a visible leader in Sussex County neighborhood, business, and all service

communities

 Help employees and volunteers understand their part in meeting strategic goals and

vision

 Encourage employees and volunteers to participate in partnerships and collaborative

efforts throughout public safety

 Have a comprehensive understanding and knowledge of all elements of their

department budget

Leadership/Supervisory 

 Foster a participatory organizational climate that is open, positive, reinforcing, and

supportive

 Encourage employees and volunteers to be accountable for their work and take

ownership in what they do

 Demonstrate leadership and courage by making or supporting decisions that reflect

the organizational mission and goals even when the decision may be unpopular to

some

 Demonstrate collaboration and conflict resolution skills with other departments and

employees

 Help employees and volunteers see the value of developing their skills, and assist

them in eliminating barriers to their development; encourage employees to step

outside of their comfort zone to develop their skills

 Provide meaningful, timely feedback and effectively address performance problems

 Effectively supervise, mentor, and motivate in a team environment relationship with

colleagues which encourage constructive feedback and new ways to look at projects,

policies, service delivery, etc.

Job Specific 

 Demonstrate extensive knowledge of:

o the principles, practices, and techniques of modern emergency management,

prevention, and emergency medical response, and ability to apply this

knowledge to varied fire control, prevention, EMS, and administrative

problems

o the principles and practices for the operation, capabilities, and maintenance of

the various types of apparatus and equipment used in public safety

o the rules and regulations of the department, county and state laws and

ordinances

o the principles of public administration with reference to personnel

administration, budget preparation and administration, and overall

management concepts

o current literature, research, and developments in the fields

 Plan, initiate, carry out, and follow up on programs in administration, training,

prevention, and operations

Unfinished Business - Page 6



 Respond too and provide operational support on active emergency incidents to

include, fires, EMS calls, accidents, hazardous materials, and other all hazard

emergencies.

 Supervises both short-range and long-range implementation of plans

 Purchases and approves purchase of departmental materials, supplies and equipment

 Maintains and improves public safety response in order to fulfill safe community

strategic objective

4. Driving is essential to this position; must operate County and personal vehicles in a safe

manner

6. Maintains regular and punctual attendance

Other Duties and Responsibilities 

Attends some of the regular evening Board meetings and study sessions; may attend evening 

or weekend community meetings. Incumbent is accountable for all duties of this job, and 

other projects and responsibilities may be added at the County’s discretion. 

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS TO PERFORM WORK 

Education and Experience:  

 Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited university or college with major coursework in Public

Administration, Fire Administration, or a related field

 Supervisory experience at the Battalion Chief level or above

 Experience in emergency management, prevention, emergency medical response, and emergency

preparedness, in any combination

 Maintain a valid driver's license and safe driving record throughout employment

 Minimum five (5) years of senior management and administrative experience in a public sector

or military setting, or four (4) years of experience in an executive-level city management position

combined with public sector experience

Any equivalent combination of education, training, and experience, which would provide the 

required knowledge and skills, may be considered. 

Minimum Operational Licenses or Certificates required for employment: 

 Federal and/or State Emergency Management Certifications

 NIMS 100, 200, 700, 800

 Current certification as Emergency Medical Technician (EMT)

 EVOC – Emergency Vehicle Operations Course

 Current CPR card

 Valid driver’s license in the Commonwealth of Virginia along with a good driving record

 Firefighter I and II and Hazardous Materials Operations certifications

Unfinished Business - Page 7



 Other required certification mutually agreed upon by the Chief and County Administrator.

PRE-EMPLOYMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 Background checks will include employment references and criminal history, credit check,

driver’s license record, and education verification

 Pre-employment drug screen

 Must be legally entitled to work in the United States

(This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and employee.  It is used 

as a guide for personnel actions and is subject to change by the employer as the needs of the employer and 

requirements of the job change).  

Unfinished Business - Page 8



 VRS-77  (Rev. 04/21) *VRS-000077*

CERTIFICATION OF HAZARDOUS DUTY SERVICE 

Complete this form for employees who become employed in a position from which they can retire under the Virginia 
Law Officers’ Retirement System (VaLORS), the State Police Officers’ Retirement System (SPORS), or VRS with 
enhanced benefits for hazardous duty positions. This form is used to certify service eligible for the hazardous duty 
supplement. 

Include employment prior to October 1, 1999 in the following positions: 
• Police Officer in the Capitol Police Force (§ 30-34.2:1)
• Police Officer on campus at an institution of higher education (§ 23.1-809)
• Conservation Police Officer in the Department of Wildlife Resources (§ 29.1-200)
• Special Agent for the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Authority (§ 4.1-100)
• Marine Resource Law Enforcement Officer (§ 9.1-101)
• Correctional Officer (§ 53.1-1), including correctional officers employed at a juvenile correction facility

(§ 66-25.3)
• Parole Officer (§ 53.1-143)
• Commercial Vehicle Enforcement Officer employed by the Department of State Police

Include any employment as an employee of a VRS-participating political subdivision employed in one of the 
following positions: 

• Police Officer (law-enforcement position comparably hazardous to that of a state police officer including
any sworn law enforcement officer who has the duty and obligation to enforce the penal and traffic laws of
the Commonwealth as directed by a superior officer)

• Full-time salaried Fire Chief, Firefighter or full-time salaried Emergency Medical Technician (EMT)
• Regional Jail Superintendent or Jailer for a regional jail farm, regional jail or jail authority
• Sheriff or Deputy Sheriff

EMPLOYER HUMAN RESOURCES CERTIFICATION 
Member Name   (First, Middle Initial, Last) 

Certification: I certify this VRS member worked in a hazardous duty position during the following time period(s): 

VRS Job Name (as indicated above) * From (mm/yyyy) Through (mm/yyyy) Mos in Period 

Total Haz Months Certified: 
Authorized Signer (Printed Name) 

Authorized Signature Authorized Signer’s Title  

Employer Name Employer Code Where Service Rendered 
* VRS job name in myVRS Navigator will be updated by VRS if necessary.

1. Social Security Number

2. Date

 VIRGINIA RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 P.O. Box 2500  Richmond, VA 23218-2500 
 Toll-free 1-888-827-3847 
 Fax  804-786-9718 
 www.varetire.org  

Unfinished Business - Page 9



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  New Business #9.01 

Subject:    Business License and Zoning Compliance Fees – Supervisor Fly 

Board Meeting Date: February 23 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary: Supervisor Fly requested this item be added for discussion. 

Recommendation:   

Attachment: N/A   

============================================================================= 

ACTION:    

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

New Business - Page 1



New Business - Page 2



New Business - Page 3



New Business - Page 4



New Business - Page 5



New Business - Page 6



New Business - Page 7



New Business - Page 8



New Business - Page 9



New Business - Page 10



New Business - Page 11



New Business - Page 12



New Business - Page 13



New Business - Page 14



New Business - Page 15


	#1 3 16 2023 BOS Agenda
	#2.01-2 23 2023  Rescheduled BOS meeting minutes
	#2.02 February 2023 Warrants  Vouchers
	#2.03-#2.11 Consent Agenda
	#2.03 TR & Financial Updates
	#2.04-1 BD Cover
	#2.04-2 February 2023 Report
	#2.04-3 BD Feb 2023
	#2.04-5 PD Cover
	#2.04-6 January and February 2023 Monthly
	#2.04-7 SD Cover
	#2.04-8 February BOS Report_2023
	#2.04-9 SD Monthly Report LETTERHEAD GILES
	#2.05-1  VW MOU revised
	#2.05-2 CWASigned MOU (2)
	#2.06-1  Opioid Settlement revised (002)
	#2.06-2 RESOLUTION. Approval of Settlements with Teva Allergan Walmart CVS and Walgreens. Sussex
	#2.07-1 Rural Rustic Resolution
	#2.07-2 Rural Rustic Resolution.3.16.2023.BOS
	#2.08-1 Consent BWS Big Ticket Items 032323 revised (002)
	#2.08-2 NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING (Budget Work Session 3 2 2023
	#2.09-1 Consent BWS Ext Agencies 032323
	#2.09-2 NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING (BWS ext agencies 33023
	#2.10-1 CAS Severn Maint Agmt
	#2.10-2 CAS Severn Power8 Maint Agreement
	#2.10-3 IBM Approp March2023
	#2.10-4 March2023 CAS Severn Approp (002)
	#2.011-1  BAF Waverly Solar Decom  Estimates
	#2.11-2 Staff Report- Waverly Solar Decommissioning Plan  Estimate (002)
	#2.11-3 20230213 - Waverly Phase I Decommissioning Plan (1) (1)
	#2.11-4 20230131 - Waverly Phase II Decommissioning Plan (1) (1)
	#2.11-5 20230131 - Waverly Phase III Decommissioning Plan (1) (1)

	#3 Recognitions
	#3.01-2 RESOLUTION Reid Foster
	#3.01-3 Reid Foster resolution
	#3.02-1 Shanko Retirement
	#3.02-2 RESOLUTION James Shanko
	#3.02-3 info James J. Shanko III
	#3.03-1 VDOT Update
	#3.04-1 DSS Advisory Board Update

	#4 Public Hearing
	#4.01-1 Public Hearing Board Action Form
	#4.01-2 Ordinance Amendment #2023-01.Staff Report

	#5 Appointments
	#5.01-2 BOD Position Description 2021
	#5.01-3 D19 CSB Bd By Laws
	#5.01-4 Meeting Schedule

	#6 Action Items
	#6.01-2 IMG_5155
	#6.01-3 OYIK MORE email
	#6.01-4 documents

	#8 Unfinished Business
	#8.01-1 Public Safety Reclassification revised
	#8.01-2 hazardous duty retirement RESOLUTION 2023
	#8.01-3 Job Description Draft 3 Sussex Chief of Emergency Services.eth12
	#8.01-4 vrs-77100
	P.O. Box 2500 ( Richmond, VA 23218-2500


	#9 New Business
	#9.01-1 Business License & Zoning Comp Fees
	#9.01-2 BUSINESS PROFESSIONAL OCCUPATIONAL LICENSE ORDINANCE


	RESET: 
	Social Security Number: 
	DATE: 
	Name: 
	Job1: 
	From1: 
	Thru1: 
	Mos1: 
	Job2: 
	From2: 
	Thru2: 
	Mos2: 
	Job3: 
	From3: 
	Thru3: 
	Mos3: 
	AuthSig: 
	Mos4: 
	AuthTitl: 
	ERName: 
	Employer Code: 


